# On Amplitudes and Field Redefinitions

## Timothy Cohen,<sup>*a,b,c*</sup> Xiaochuan Lu,<sup>*d*</sup> and Dave Sutherland<sup>*e*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1211 Geneva, CH

<sup>b</sup> Theoretical Particle Physics Laboratory, EPFL, 1015 Lausanne, CH

<sup>c</sup>Institute for Fundamental Science, University of Oregon, Eugene, Oregon 97403, USA

<sup>d</sup>Department of Physics, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA

<sup>e</sup>School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, UK

*E-mail*: tim.cohen@cern.ch, xil224@ucsd.edu, david.w.sutherland@glasgow.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We derive an off-shell recursion relation for correlators that holds at all loop orders. This allows us to prove how generalized amplitudes transform under generic field redefinitions, starting from an assumed behavior of the one-particle-irreducible effective action. The form of the recursion relation resembles the operation of raising the rank of a tensor by acting with a covariant derivative. This inspires a geometric interpretation, whose features and flaws we investigate.

# Contents

1	Introduction		3
<b>2</b>	Off-shell Recursion for Amplitudes		4
	2.1	Correlation Functions From the Path Integral	5
	2.2	Amplitudes From Correlation Functions	7
	2.3	Recursion Relation for Amplitudes	10
3	Invariance of Amplitudes Under General Field Redefinitions		15
	3.1	Proof of the Transformation Lemma	17
	3.2	Applications to Tree and One-Loop Amplitudes	24
4	Towards a Geometric Interpretation		27
	4.1	Evidence for a Functional Manifold: Success and Failure	28
	4.2	Relation to the Field Space Geometry	30
	4.3	Exploring Modified Source Terms	38
5	6 Conclusions and Outlook		41
Α	Amplitude Invariance From the Path Integral		43
	References		44

#### 1 Introduction

It is well understood that defining a theory in terms of fields introduces a tremendous redundancy. In particular, one of the most fundamental quantities that can be computed from a field theory are the S-matrix elements or amplitudes. Amplitudes are known to be invariant under field redefinitions of the form [1-4]

$$\phi(x) \longrightarrow \phi(x) + f(\phi(x), \partial_{\mu}\phi(x), \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi(x), \cdots), \qquad (1.1)$$

where f is an arbitrary polynomial function of the field(s) and its derivatives evaluated at the spacetime point x. This field redefinition invariance plays a minor role for "renormalizable" theories (with the important exception of gauge theory). However, this redundancy becomes a significant source of technical complexity when one studies "non-renormalizable" Effective Field Theories (EFTs) that include irrelevant operators. In the case of EFTs, the ability to perform field redefinitions, often expressed as an iterative equation of motion redundancy (along with the application of integration by parts) implies that the space of allowed operators is highly redundant, so that Lagrangians which appear different actually describe the same underlying scattering physics.

In this paper, we build upon and explore the results in Ref. [5] to provide a new perspective on the notion of field redefinition invariance of amplitudes. In particular, we prove a "transformation lemma" for an off-shell generalization of the amplitudes. We then apply this result to show that the on-shell amplitudes are invariant under field redefinitions (up to one-loop order). This new approach follows as a direct consequence of a new off-shell recursion relation that we prove in this paper.

The study of field redefinitions and EFTs has undergone something of a renaissance in recent years. The determination of the size of the operator basis using the Hilbert series has been developed and applied to many examples [6-23]. This is closely related to the approach of constructing EFT amplitudes directly [24-55], which again avoids the issues of operator redundancies. In both approaches, the full set of field redefinitions included in Eq. (1.1) are accommodated.

Another fruitful approach is to work with the Lagrangian directly, but to express it in terms of geometric objects defined on a Riemannian field space manifold [56–63]. In this case, the key insight is to identify that field redefinitions without derivatives are equivalent to coordinate changes on the field space manifold. One can then express amplitudes directly in terms of well known geometric quantities built out of the Riemannian metric. This makes the invariance of amplitudes under the restricted set of field redefinitions completely manifest. This approach has seen recent applications to the scalar sector of the Standard Model [64-74], and has also led to new insights into the properties of amplitudes for both scalars and particles of higher spins [75-86].

However, the geometric picture that can accommodate the full set of field redefinitions has remained elusive [5, 87–90]. It is this search for a generalized notion of geometry that has prompted us to revisit the field redefinition properties of amplitudes. In particular, we will show that our new perspective has a natural geometry-like interpretation, that we call "functional geometry." We are able to find hints that functional geometry exists and has the desired features to be associated with a generalized manifold. However, we also show that it fails to fully generalize field space geometry in a number of important ways. Nevertheless, we are optimistic that the ideas presented here represent genuine progress towards what will eventually be the discovery of a new notion of geometry that accommodates the full set of allowed field redefinitions.

The rest of this paper is organized as the following. In Sec. 2, we review the wellknown path integral formalism of QFTs and use it to derive a recursion relation for the off-shell amplitudes that holds at all loop orders. We then make use of it to prove a transformation lemma in Sec. 3, which is the main result of this paper. We demonstrate that up to one-loop level, this lemma applies when a general field redefinition that accommodates derivatives is taken, which then immediately implies the invariance of the on-shell amplitudes. In Sec. 4, we present an attempt to introduce a geometric interpretation, motivated by the tensor-like structure of the recursion relation derived in Sec. 2. In particular, we discuss the successes and failures of this interpretation, and comment on its relation with the well-established field space geometry picture. Conclusions and future directions are given in Sec. 5.

## 2 Off-shell Recursion for Amplitudes

We begin with a brief review of the formalism for computing correlation functions from the path integral (Sec. 2.1). The partition function Z[J] spans a set of theories that are parameterized by difference choices of the source fields J(x), and the original theory corresponds to taking J(x) = 0, *i.e.*, the "zero source condition." We then review the LSZ formalism for projecting amplitudes from the correlation functions (Sec. 2.2). The LSZ formula provides a general definition of "amplitudes" which allow for the external states to be off-shell; the limit where the external states are on-shell defines the "S-matrix elements." Although these first two subsections contain material typically covered in QFT textbooks, our purpose here is to express these well-known results in a notation that is convenient for deriving a recursion relation for off-shell amplitudes that holds at all loop orders [5] (Sec. 2.3).

#### 2.1 Correlation Functions From the Path Integral

Given a scalar field  $\eta(x)$ , whose action is given by  $S[\eta]$ , one can define the partition function as a path integral

$$Z[J] \equiv e^{iW[J]} \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS[\eta] + i \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, J(x) \, \eta(x)} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

and we have defined  $iW[J] \equiv \log Z[J]$  as usual. The partition function Z[J] is a generating functional of the (time-ordered) J-dependent correction functions

$$\langle \eta^{x_1} \cdots \eta^{x_n} \rangle_J \equiv \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS[\eta] + iJ_x \eta^x} \, \eta(x_1) \cdots \eta(x_n)}{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS[\eta] + iJ_x \eta^x}} = \frac{1}{Z[J]} (-i)^n \frac{\delta^n Z}{\delta J_{x_1} \cdots \delta J_{x_n}} \,, \qquad (2.2)$$

where we have introduced the concise notation<sup>1</sup>

$$\eta(x) = \eta^x \,, \tag{2.3a}$$

$$J(x) = J_x \,, \tag{2.3b}$$

so that an integral over spacetime is represented as a sum over a dummy index

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, J(x) \, \eta(x) = J_x \eta^x \,. \tag{2.4}$$

It is well known that the path integral formalism and the use of generating functionals being reviewed in this section generalizes to an arbitrary set of bosonic and fermionic fields [91–93]. When dealing with fermionic fields, one needs to keep track of the signs carefully. In the case of a general field, the index x in Eq. (2.3) is understood to collectively label the spacetime position, the spin indices, as well as any of its internal flavor indices, all of which are summed over when the dummy index x is contracted.

#### Source Dependence

The *J*-dependent correlation functions  $\langle \eta^{x_1} \cdots \eta^{x_n} \rangle_J$  can be viewed as the correlation functions of a modified theory with the action  $S_J[\eta]$ :

$$S[\eta] \longrightarrow S_J[\eta] \equiv S[\eta] + J_x \eta^x$$
. (2.5)

The partition function Z[J] generates correlation functions for these generalized theories that include non-trivial dependence on the sources. The correlation functions of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We will use both notations in what follows based on convenience.

the original theory  $S[\eta]$  can be extracted from their generalized counterparts by taking the zero source condition J(x) = 0:

$$\langle \eta^{x_1} \cdots \eta^{x_n} \rangle_{J=0} = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS[\eta]} \, \eta(x_1) \cdots \eta(x_n)}{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS[\eta]}} = \frac{1}{Z[J=0]} (-i)^n \frac{\delta^n Z}{\delta J_{x_1} \cdots \delta J_{x_n}} \bigg|_{J=0} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

Meanwhile, it is useful to work with the source dependent theories, whose correlation functions are given in Eq. (2.2). Their functional dependence on J is key to the off-shell recursion relation.

#### **Connected and 1PI Correlation Functions**

It is more convenient to work with W[J] defined in Eq. (2.1), since this is the generating functional for the contributions from the connected diagrams

$$\langle \eta^{x_1} \cdots \eta^{x_n} \rangle_{J,\,\text{conn}} = (-i)^n \frac{\delta^n(iW)}{\delta J_{x_1} \cdots \delta J_{x_n}}.$$
 (2.7)

The one-particle-irreducible (1PI) effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$  is then defined as a Legendre transform of W[J]:

$$\phi^{x}[J] \equiv \frac{\delta W}{\delta J_{x}} \implies \Gamma[\phi] \equiv W[J[\phi]] - \phi^{x} J_{x}[\phi].$$
(2.8)

To implement the Legendre transform, one introduces a new set of variables, the set of fields  $\phi(x)$  defined as in Eq. (2.8). By construction, these are "conjugate variables" to the source fields J(x), in that there is an invertible map between them determined by Eq. (2.8):

$$J(x) \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \phi(x) \,. \tag{2.9}$$

We emphasize that the fields  $\phi(x)$  are *not* the scalar fields  $\eta(x)$  of the theory. However, making use of the n = 1 case of Eq. (2.7), one derives a relation between  $\phi(x)$  and  $\eta(x)$ ;  $\phi(x)$  are the *J*-dependent quantum vacuum expectation values (vev) of the fields  $\eta(x)$ :

$$\phi^x[J] \equiv \frac{\delta W}{\delta J_x} = \langle \eta^x \rangle_J \,. \tag{2.10}$$

Some other relations also follow from the general properties of the Legendre transform

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^x} = -J_x$$
, and  $\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^x\delta\phi^y} = \left[\frac{\delta^2(iW)}{\delta J_x\delta J_y}\right]^{-1}$ . (2.11)

It is well known that  $i\Gamma[\phi]$  is the generating functional of the J-dependent 1PI

correlation functions

$$\langle \eta(x_1)\cdots\eta(x_n)\rangle_{J,\,\mathrm{1PI}} = \frac{\delta^n(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi(x_1)\cdots\delta\phi(x_n)} \qquad \text{for} \qquad n \ge 3.$$
 (2.12)

The 1PI correlation functions for the original theory are then recovered by taking the zero source condition J(x) = 0. Through the one-to-one map in Eq. (2.9), this corresponds to evaluating the right-hand side of Eq. (2.12) at a specific choice of  $\phi(x)$ :

$$J(x) = 0 \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \phi(x)|_{J=0} = \phi_v(x) \equiv \langle \eta^x \rangle_{J=0} \,. \tag{2.13}$$

We see that  $\phi_v(x)$  is the quantum vev of the fields  $\eta(x)$  for the original theory. According to Eq. (2.11), it satisfies the condition

$$\left. \frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \phi^x} \right|_{\phi = \phi_v} = 0 \,. \tag{2.14}$$

The 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$  can be computed as a series of "1PI diagrams," which are diagrams with the property that they cannot be separated into two disconnected parts that each contains a nonzero number of external legs by cutting a single internal leg. One subtle case is that diagrams with tadpoles can be consistent with the 1PI requirement; cutting off the tadpole could separate the diagram into two disconnected parts, but the part including the tadpole does not contain any external legs. Therefore, when computing the 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$  diagrammatically, one must include diagrams with tadpoles (when they are nonzero), see *e.g.* [94].

#### 2.2 Amplitudes From Correlation Functions

To compute the amplitudes from the correlation functions, we first define the on-shell momenta. For this purpose, we study the connected two-point functions, namely the propagators:

$$D^{xy}[J] \equiv \langle \eta^x \eta^y \rangle_{J,\,\text{conn}} = -\frac{\delta^2(iW)}{\delta J_x \delta J_y} = -\left[\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta \phi^x \delta \phi^y}\right]^{-1},\qquad(2.15)$$

where the second-to-last expression comes from Eq. (2.7), while the last equality is due to the property of the Legendre transform in Eq. (2.11). Again, this is the propagator for the *J*-dependent theory  $S_J[\eta] = S[\eta] + J_x \eta^x$ . Taking the zero source condition, J(x) = 0 or equivalently  $\phi(x) = \phi_v(x)$ , recovers the propagator of the original theory  $S[\eta]$ . Its momentum space form is the familiar one:

$$\int d^4 x_1 d^4 x_2 e^{ip_1 x_1} e^{ip_2 x_2} D^{x_1 x_2} [J=0] = (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p_1 + p_2) \Delta(p_1) , \qquad (2.16)$$

with

$$\Delta(p) = \frac{iR_{\eta}}{p^2 - m_p^2 + i\epsilon} + \text{regular}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $m_p$  denotes the pole mass of the particle and  $R_\eta$  denotes the residue. Using Eq. (2.15), one can write Eq. (2.16) alternatively as

$$\int d^4 x_1 \, e^{ip(x_1 - x_2)} \left. \frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \right|_{\phi = \phi_v} = \int d^4 x_1 \, e^{ip(x_1 - x_2)} \, i D_{x_1 x_2}^{-1} [J = 0] = \frac{i}{\Delta(p)} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

Note that Eq. (2.15) is the fully connected two-point function, or the full interacting propagator. Specifically, if we denote the 1PI two-point function as  $-i\Sigma(p^2)$ , we have

$$\Delta(p) = \frac{i}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon} + \frac{i}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon} \left[ -i\Sigma(p^2) \right] \frac{i}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon} + \cdots$$
  
=  $\frac{i}{p^2 - m^2 - \Sigma(p^2) + i\epsilon}$ , (2.19)

where  $m^2$  is the tree-level mass parameter, and the pole mass  $m_p^2$  is determined by the condition  $m_p^2 = m^2 + \text{Re} \Sigma(m_p^2)$ .

#### **On-shell Condition**

A momentum  $p^{\mu}$  is said to be on-shell when it sits on the pole of the propagator

$$\frac{1}{\Delta(\bar{p})} = 0 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \bar{p}^2 = m_p^2, \tag{2.20}$$

where we are introducing the notation  $\bar{p}$  to denote on-shell momenta. Using Eq. (2.18), we can equivalently state the on-shell condition as

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x_1 \, e^{i\bar{p}x_1} \left. \frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \right|_{\phi = \phi_v} = 0 \,. \tag{2.21}$$

#### Amplitudes From LSZ and External Wavefunctions

To compute the amplitudes following the LSZ prescription [95, 96], one can first compute the *J*-dependent amputated correlation functions

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}[J] \equiv \left(D_{x_1y_1}^{-1}\right)\cdots \left(D_{x_ny_n}^{-1}\right) \langle \eta^{y_1}\cdots \eta^{y_n} \rangle_{J,\,\text{conn}} \,. \tag{2.22}$$

Then the momentum space amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}$  follow by evaluating  $\mathcal{M}$  at J = 0, taking a Fourier transform, and including the appropriate residue factors for the external legs:

$$(2\pi)^{4} \delta^{4}(p_{1} + \dots + p_{n}) \, i\mathcal{A}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}) = (R_{\eta}^{1/2})^{n} \int \left[\prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathrm{d}^{4} x_{i} \, e^{ip_{i}x_{i}}\right] \left(-i\mathcal{M}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{n}}|_{J=0}\right).$$
(2.23)

This defines general amplitudes for off-shell momenta  $p_i^2 \neq m_{p,i}^2$ . The on-shell amplitudes (the usual S-matrix elements) are then given by taking all external momenta to be on shell.

It is convenient to introduce the external wavefunction<sup>2</sup>

$$\psi^x(p) = R_\eta^{1/2} e^{ipx} \,, \tag{2.24}$$

which is an eigenstate of the inverse propagator (c.f. Eq. (2.18)):

$$\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \bigg|_{\phi = \phi_v} \psi^{x_2}(p) = \frac{i}{\Delta(p)} \psi^{x_1}(p) \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Note that when the momentum is on-shell, the eigenvalue vanishes

$$\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \bigg|_{\phi = \phi_v} \psi^{x_2}(\bar{p}) = 0.$$
(2.26)

With the external wavefunctions, we can write the LSZ formula in Eq. (2.23) more concisely as

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p_1 + \dots + p_n) \, i\mathcal{A}(p_1, \dots, p_n) = \left[\psi^{x_1}(p_1) \cdots \psi^{x_n}(p_n)\right] \left(-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}|_{J=0}\right), \quad (2.27)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In general, the external wavefunctions are  $\psi_i = \langle 0 | \eta^{x_i} | p_i, h_i, \cdots \rangle_{J=0}$ , which represent the overlap of the fields with the *i*<sup>th</sup> external states of given momentum  $p_i$ , helicity  $h_i$ , etc. For an external scalar, it has the form in Eq. (2.24), whereas for a gauge boson, it would also include a polarization vector,  $i.e., \psi_i = \epsilon_{h_i}^{\mu_i}(p_i) e^{ip_i x_i}$ .

compare analogous equations in [77, 78]. We emphasize here that  $\mathcal{A}(p_1, \dots, p_n)$  defines a generalized momentum space amplitude where the external momenta can be off-shell.

#### **Computing Amputated Correlation Functions**

In order to compute amplitudes, Eq. (2.27) implies that we can focus on calculating the amputated correlation functions  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}[J]$  defined in Eq. (2.22). These can be obtained by gluing together the 1PI correlation functions (Eq. (2.12)) using the propagators (Eq. (2.15)). As discussed above, these two types of building blocks for  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$  are both conveniently expressed in terms of the 1PI effective action. Concretely, the three-point amputated correlation function can be expressed as

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2x_3} = \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\delta\phi^{x_2}\delta\phi^{x_3}},\qquad(2.28)$$

while at four-points we have

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2x_3x_4} = \frac{\delta^4(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\delta\phi^{x_2}\delta\phi^{x_3}\delta\phi^{x_4}} + \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\delta\phi^{x_2}\delta\phi^{y}}D^{yz}\frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^z\delta\phi^{x_3}\delta\phi^{x_4}} + \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\delta\phi^{x_3}\delta\phi^{y}}D^{yz}\frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^z\delta\phi^{x_2}\delta\phi^{x_4}} + \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\delta\phi^{x_4}\delta\phi^{y}}D^{yz}\frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^z\delta\phi^{x_2}\delta\phi^{x_3}}.$$
 (2.29)

Similar expressions can be worked out for higher-point functions. As we will explain next, they can more efficiently be built recursively out of lower-point functions.

#### 2.3 Recursion Relation for Amplitudes

We now explain how to derive higher point generalizations of Eqs. (2.28) and (2.29) recursively. For convenience, we introduce notation for the following combination of the three-point function and the propagator:

$$G_{x_1x_2}^y \equiv i\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2z} D^{zy}$$
. (2.30)

With this, one can rewrite Eq. (2.29) as

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_4}} \mathcal{M}_{x_1 x_2 x_3} - G^y_{x_4 x_1} \mathcal{M}_{y x_2 x_3} - G^y_{x_4 x_2} \mathcal{M}_{x_1 y x_3} - G^y_{x_4 x_3} \mathcal{M}_{x_1 x_2 y} \,. \tag{2.31}$$

This way of writing the four-point function exposes a relation to the three-point function. We will now argue that this pattern persists to any number of external legs as a recursion relation of the form [5]

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n x_{n+1}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_{n+1}}} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} - \sum_{i=1}^n G^y_{x_{n+1}x_i} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots \hat{x}_i y \cdots x_n} , \qquad (2.32)$$

where a hat denotes the absence of an index in the sequence. Note that the form of Eq. (2.32) is suggestive of a covariant derivative where G is the connection; we return to this point in Sec. 4.

To derive this recursion relation, we first use the definition of  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$  in Eq. (2.22) together with Eq. (2.7) to obtain

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} = D_{x_1y_1}^{-1}\cdots D_{x_ny_n}^{-1}(-i)^n \frac{\delta^n(iW)}{\delta J_{y_1}\cdots \delta J_{y_n}}.$$
 (2.33)

This implies the following relation between  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n x_{n+1}}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{n}x_{n+1}} = D_{x_{1}y_{1}}^{-1} \cdots D_{x_{n}y_{n}}^{-1} D_{x_{n+1}y_{n+1}}^{-1} (-i) \frac{\delta}{\delta J_{y_{n+1}}} D^{y_{1}z_{1}} \cdots D^{y_{n}z_{n}} \mathcal{M}_{z_{1}\cdots z_{n}}$$
$$= D_{x_{1}y_{1}}^{-1} \cdots D_{x_{n}y_{n}}^{-1} \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_{n+1}}} D^{y_{1}z_{1}} \cdots D^{y_{n}z_{n}} \mathcal{M}_{z_{1}\cdots z_{n}}, \qquad (2.34)$$

where we have used Eqs. (2.8) and (2.15) to obtain the second line. We can simplify this expression using the commutator between the functional derivative  $\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}}$  and the propagators. Using Eq. (2.15) again, together with Eq. (2.28) and the definition in Eq. (2.30), we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}}, D^{y_i z_i} \end{bmatrix} = \left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} D^{y_i z_i}\right) = -\left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} \left[\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{y_i}\delta\phi^{z_i}}\right]^{-1}\right)$$
$$= \left[\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{y_i}\delta\phi^u}\right]^{-1} \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^u\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}\delta\phi^v} \left[\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^v\delta\phi^{z_i}}\right]^{-1}$$
$$= -D^{y_i u} i\mathcal{M}_{x_{n+1} uv} D^{v z_i} = -D^{y_i u} G^{z_i}_{x_{n+1} u}.$$
(2.35)

Using this repeatedly, we obtain the following relation

$$D_{x_{1}y_{1}}^{-1} \cdots D_{x_{n}y_{n}}^{-1} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} D^{y_{1}z_{1}} \cdots D^{y_{n}z_{n}}$$
$$= \delta_{x_{1}}^{z_{1}} \cdots \delta_{x_{n}}^{z_{n}} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \delta_{x_{1}}^{z_{1}} \cdots \delta_{x_{i}}^{z_{i}} \cdots \delta_{x_{n}}^{z_{n}} \right) G_{x_{n+1}x_{i}}^{z_{i}}, \qquad (2.36)$$

where  $\delta_x^z = \frac{\delta \phi^z}{\delta \phi^x} = \delta^4(z - x)$  and the hat indicates the absence of a quantity in the sequence as before. With this relation, Eq. (2.34) simplifies to the recursion relation in Eq. (2.32). Note that no step in this derivation relied on any reference to perturbation theory. Therefore, the recursion relation for  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}$  in Eq. (2.32) holds to all loop orders.

#### 2.3.1 Diagrammatic Derivation

The above derivation of the recursion relation Eq. (2.32) is purely algebraic. To provide a more intuitive perspective, we present a diagrammatic derivation in this section, which repeats the argument given in [5] with more details.

Consider the diagrammatic representation of the amputated correlation functions  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ . They can be obtained by gluing together the 1PI vertices with the full propagators; both ingredients are conveniently expressed in terms of the 1PI effective action, as shown in Eqs. (2.12) and (2.15). Here we recap the dictionary between diagram components and algebraic factors for our convenience:

*k*-point 1PI vertices : 
$$\frac{\delta^k(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_1}\cdots\delta\phi^{x_k}}, \quad k \ge 3,$$
 (2.37a)

full propagators : 
$$D^{xy} = -\left[\frac{\delta^2(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^x\delta\phi^y}\right]^{-1}$$
. (2.37b)

As usual, we group all the contributing Feynman diagrams into different "gluing topologies," which characterize all possible ways of gluing together 1PI vertices. For example, at n = 3 there is a unique gluing topology:

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2x_3} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} x_1 \\ 1 \\ x_2 \end{array}}_{x_2 \\ x_3} . \tag{2.38}$$

This corresponds to the single term in Eq. (2.28). At n = 4, there are four distinct

gluing topologies, each corresponding to a term in Eq. (2.29):

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_{1}x_{2}x_{3}x_{4}} = \underbrace{x_{1}}_{x_{2}} \underbrace{x_{4}}_{x_{3}} + \underbrace{x_{1}}_{x_{2}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y z} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} + \underbrace{x_{1}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y z} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{2}} + \underbrace{x_{1}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y z} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} + \underbrace{x_{1}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{3}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_{4}}$$

Now let us consider the gluing topologies for  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$  and  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_nx_{n+1}}$ , with  $n \geq 3$ . The latter has one more leg,  $x_{n+1}$ , and hence receives contributions from more gluing topologies. We can examine each of them, paying attention to where the extra leg  $x_{n+1}$  is attached. In this way, for each gluing topology  $T_{n+1}$  of  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_nx_{n+1}}$ , one can first identify a corresponding gluing topology  $T_n$  of  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ , and then figure out how one can calculate  $T_{n+1}$  from  $T_n$ .

Let us elaborate this procedure in detail. Specifically, there are three scenarios for the position of the leg  $x_{n+1}$  in  $T_{n+1}$ :

1.  $x_{n+1}$  is part of a four- (or higher-) point 1PI vertex in the gluing topology  $T_{n+1}$ . In this case, if one removes  $x_{n+1}$ , the 1PI vertex that it is attaching to will remain as a 1PI vertex, and  $T_{n+1}$  will become a gluing topology  $T_n$  for  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ . Diagrammatically, one identifies the corresponding  $T_n$  from  $T_{n+1}$  as

$$T_{n+1} = \underbrace{(1\text{PI})}_{y_m} \underbrace{y_{m+1}}_{y_k} \xrightarrow{y_k} T_n = \underbrace{(1\text{PI})}_{y_1} \underbrace{y_{m+1}}_{y_m} \xrightarrow{y_k} . \quad (2.40)$$

Next, from the dictionary in Eq. (2.37a), we see that  $T_{n+1}$  can be calculated from  $T_n$  by taking a functional derivative  $\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}}$  of the corresponding vertex factor in  $T_n$ , because

$$\frac{\delta^{k+1}(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\cdots\delta\phi^{y_k}\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}} \left(\frac{\delta^k(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\cdots\delta\phi^{y_k}}\right).$$
(2.41)

2.  $x_{n+1}$  is part of a three-point 1PI vertex in the gluing topology  $T_{n+1}$ , and none of the other two lines from this 1PI vertex is a leg. In this case, one can remove  $x_{n+1}$  by replacing the three-point 1PI vertex with a propagator, and thus obtain a gluing topology  $T_n$  for  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ . Diagrammatically, one identifies the corresponding  $T_n$  from  $T_{n+1}$  as

$$T_{n+1} = \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{x_1} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{z_2} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_2} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_2} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_1} \xrightarrow{x_{n+1}} T_n = \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_1} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_2} \underbrace{1\text{PI}}_{y_2} (1242)$$

Next, from the dictionary in Eq. (2.37b), we see that  $T_{n+1}$  can be calculated from  $T_n$  by taking a functional derivative  $\frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_{n+1}}}$  of the corresponding propagator factor in  $T_n$ , because

$$D^{y_1 z_1} \frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta \phi^{z_1} \delta \phi^{x_{n+1}} \delta \phi^{z_2}} D^{z_2 y_2} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_{n+1}}} \left( D^{y_1 y_2} \right) \,. \tag{2.43}$$

3.  $x_{n+1}$  is part of a three-point 1PI vertex in the gluing topology  $T_{n+1}$ , and one of the other two lines from this 1PI vertex is a leg  $x_i$ . (For  $n \ge 3$ , one cannot have both the other two lines being legs.) In this case, one can remove  $x_{n+1}$  by cutting off the three-point 1PI vertex from the diagram and relabeling the leg from the cut as  $x_i$  to get a gluing topology  $T_n$  for  $-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ . Diagrammatically, one identifies the corresponding  $T_n$  from  $T_{n+1}$  as

$$T_{n+1} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} x_{n+1} \\ 1 \text{PI} \\ x_i \end{array}}_{x_i} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} x_1 \\ x_n \end{array}}_{x_n} \Longrightarrow T_n = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} x_i \\ x_i \end{array}}_{x_n} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} x_1 \\ x_n \end{array}}_{x_n}. \quad (2.44)$$

Next, from the definition in Eq. (2.30), we see that  $T_{n+1}$  can be calculated from  $T_n$  by first taking the replacement  $x_i \to y$  and then contracting with the factor  $-G_{x_{n+1}x_i}^y$ , because

$$\frac{\delta^3(i\Gamma)}{\delta\phi^{x_{n+1}}\delta\phi^{x_i}\delta\phi^z} D^{zy} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots\hat{x}_iy\cdots x_n} = -G^y_{x_{n+1}x_i} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots\hat{x}_iy\cdots x_n} .$$
(2.45)

In summary, scenarios 1 and 2 together gives the functional derivative term in Eq. (2.32), and scenario 3 gives us the terms involving the contraction with  $G_{x_{n+1}x_i}^y$ . This completes the diagrammatic proof of the recursion relation in Eq. (2.32).

#### 2.3.2 Connection with Berends-Giele Recursion Relation

Since it involves off-shell building blocks, the recursion relation in Eq. (2.32) can be related to the Berends-Giele off-shell recursion relation for computing the amplitudes [97-99] as we now explain. First, all the amputated correlation functions (and therefore

the amplitudes) are encoded in the functional relation  $\phi^x[J]$ . Specifically, using our definition of the field  $\phi^x$  in Eq. (2.8), we can rewrite Eq. (2.33) as

$$-i\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} = \left(D_{x_1y_1}^{-1}\right)\cdots\left(D_{x_ny_n}^{-1}\right)(-i)^{n-1}\frac{\delta^{n-1}\phi^{y_1}}{\delta J_{y_2}\cdots\delta J_{y_n}}.$$
 (2.46)

Note also from Eq. (2.15) that

$$iD_{x_iy_i} = \frac{\delta\phi^{x_i}}{\delta J_{y_i}}.$$
(2.47)

Therefore, by rearranging terms and evaluating them at J = 0, we can obtain the relation between  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}|_{J=0}$  and the Taylor expansion coefficients of  $\phi^x[J]$  at J = 0:

$$\frac{\delta^{n-1}\phi^{y_1}}{\delta J_{y_2}\cdots\delta J_{y_n}}\Big|_{J=0} = \left(-\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}|_{J=0}\right)\left(\frac{\delta\phi^{x_1}}{\delta J_{y_1}}\Big|_{J=0}\right)\cdots\left(\frac{\delta\phi^{x_n}}{\delta J_{y_n}}\Big|_{J=0}\right).$$
 (2.48)

The Berends-Giele approach [97–99] is to iteratively solve the equation of motion condition

$$\frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \phi^x} = -J_x \,, \tag{2.49}$$

to obtain the functional relation  $\phi^x[J]$  order by order in J. This is computing its Taylor expansion coefficients at J = 0 in Eq. (2.48). One can then obtain  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}|_{J=0}$  through Eq. (2.48). This is in contrast with our recursion relation in Eq. (2.32), which directly constructs  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}[J]$  recursively for  $J \neq 0$ .

### 3 Invariance of Amplitudes Under General Field Redefinitions

In Sec. 2, we reviewed how the *n*-point amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}(p_1, \cdots, p_n)$ , for both on-shell and off-shell kinematics, can be obtained from the *n*-point amputated correlation functions  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}[J]$  using LSZ reduction (Eq. (2.27)), and we derived an off-shell recursion relation for  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n}[J]$  (Eq. (2.32)). Both of these results are well known; the novelty here is how we organize the terms. As we will show in this section, this organization of the results facilitates a new proof of the invariance of on-shell amplitudes under general field redefinitions, including those involving derivatives. Our results here are complementary to the traditional approach that makes the argument directly from the path integral (see *e.g.* Section 6.2 of [4], which we also reproduce in App. A for completeness).

An important lesson learned from Sec. 2 is that the amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}(p_1, \cdots, p_n)$  are

encoded in a given 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$ :

$$\Gamma[\phi] \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}[J] \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}(p_1, \cdots, p_n) .$$
 (3.1)

This is independent of the loop order; for a given theory  $S[\eta]$ , the truncation in terms of loop order only impacts the computation of the 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$  itself. One can therefore explore the properties of amplitudes by analyzing the behavior of the 1PI effective action.<sup>3</sup> In particular, we will make use of the recursion relation in Eq. (2.32) to prove the following *transformation lemma* in Sec. 3.1:

Define the 1PI effective action  $\widetilde{\Gamma}[\phi]$  as a transformation of  $\Gamma[\phi]$  that results from substituting in a given analytic functional relation  $\phi[\phi]$ :

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] = \Gamma[\phi[\widetilde{\phi}]].$$
(3.2)

Then the amputated correlation functions encoded in these two 1PI effective actions,  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  and  $\mathcal{M}$  respectively, are related by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_n} = \frac{\delta\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}}\cdots\frac{\delta\phi^{y_n}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_n}}\,\mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_n} + U_{x_1\cdots x_n}\,,\tag{3.3}$$

where  $U_{x_1\cdots x_n}$  is an "evanescent term" (see Eq. (3.18) below for a detailed expression), which satisfies

$$\tilde{\psi}^{x_1}(\bar{p}_1)\cdots\tilde{\psi}^{x_n}(\bar{p}_n)\left(U_{x_1\cdots x_n}|_{J=0}\right) = 0, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\bar{p}_i$  is an on-shell momentum. Therefore,  $U_{x_1\cdots x_n}$  does not contribute to on-shell amplitudes. As a consequence, the on-shell amplitudes encoded in  $\tilde{\Gamma}[\tilde{\phi}]$  and  $\Gamma[\phi]$  are the same:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}(\bar{p}_1,\cdots,\bar{p}_n) = \mathcal{A}(\bar{p}_1,\cdots,\bar{p}_n) .$$
(3.5)

This is the main result of this paper. We emphasize that this result holds to all loop orders, since Eq. (3.1) holds to all loop orders.

In Sec. 3.2, we will apply the above statement to show that tree-level and one-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We mention that this is the exact same spirit of functional methods for EFT matching calculations (*e.g.* [100, 101]), where the matching of amplitudes are efficiently achieved/guaranteed through the matching of the 1PI effective actions.

loop amplitudes are invariant under general field redefinitions. Concretely, we will parameterize a general field redefinition by writing the old fields  $\eta(x)$  and the new fields  $\tilde{\eta}(x)$  as functionals of each other:

$$\eta \longrightarrow \tilde{\eta} : \qquad \eta = f[\tilde{\eta}].$$
 (3.6)

This accommodates all field redefinitions that are expected to leave the S-matrix elements invariant, and in particular includes field redefinitions that involve derivatives. Such a field redefinition leads to a new Lagrangian, which gives a new 1PI effective action  $\tilde{\Gamma}[\tilde{\phi}]$ . In Sec. 3.2, we will show that up to one-loop order, one can find an analytic functional relation  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$ , such that the new 1PI effective action is related to the old one as in Eq. (3.2),  $\tilde{\Gamma}[\tilde{\phi}] = \Gamma[\phi[\tilde{\phi}]]$ . Therefore, the transformation lemma applies, which leads to the conclusion that the on-shell amplitudes are the same.

#### 3.1 Proof of the Transformation Lemma

Given a relation between two 1PI effective actions  $\widetilde{\Gamma}[\phi]$  and  $\Gamma[\phi]$  as in Eq. (3.2):

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] = \Gamma[\phi[\widetilde{\phi}]], \qquad (3.7)$$

we now address how their corresponding amplitudes would be related. Specifically, we will prove the transformation lemma described above; see Eqs. (3.2) to (3.4). Following the procedure in Eq. (3.1), we will first use Eq. (3.7) to derive the relations between their functional derivatives, and then the relations between the amputated correlation functions  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}$ , and eventually the relations between the amplitudes.

#### Zero Source Condition

We begin by relating the first functional derivatives of the two effective actions. They are related by the chain rule

$$\frac{\delta\widetilde{\Gamma}}{\delta\widetilde{\phi}^x} = \frac{\delta\phi^y}{\delta\widetilde{\phi}^x}\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^y}\,.$$
(3.8)

It means that for analytic functional relations  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  in Eq. (3.7), where the matrix  $\delta \phi^y / \delta \tilde{\phi}^x$  is invertible, the zero source condition Eq. (2.14) is unchanged:

$$\frac{\delta \tilde{\Gamma}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^x} \bigg|_{\tilde{\phi} = \tilde{\phi}_v} = 0 \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \phi^x} \bigg|_{\phi = \phi[\tilde{\phi}_v]} = 0.$$
(3.9)

Put in other words,  $\phi_v(x)$  is given by plugging  $\tilde{\phi}_v(x)$  into the functional relation  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$ :

$$\phi_v(x) = \phi[\tilde{\phi}_v](x) \,. \tag{3.10}$$

Note that this would not be true if there were an inhomogeneous piece in Eq. (3.8).

#### **On-shell Condition**

Now we move onto the relation between the second derivatives. Following Eq. (3.8), we derive the relation between the second functional derivatives again using the chain rule:

$$\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_1} \delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_2}} = \frac{\delta \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \frac{\delta \phi^{y_2}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{y_1} \delta \phi^{y_2}} + \frac{\delta^2 \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_1} \delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{y_1}} \,. \tag{3.11}$$

From Eq. (3.9), we see that the inhomogeneous piece vanishes when this expression is evaluated at  $\tilde{\phi}(x) = \tilde{\phi}_v(x)$ :

$$\frac{\delta^2 \widetilde{\Gamma}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \bigg|_{\widetilde{\phi}_v} = \left( \frac{\delta \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \bigg|_{\widetilde{\phi}_v} \right) \left( \frac{\delta \phi^{y_2}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \bigg|_{\widetilde{\phi}_v} \right) \left( \frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{y_1} \delta \phi^{y_2}} \bigg|_{\phi_v} \right) \,, \tag{3.12}$$

where we have used Eq. (3.10) for the last factor. This tells us that the on-shell momentum condition Eq. (2.21) is unchanged:

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x_1 \, e^{i\bar{p}x_1} \left. \frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \right|_{\phi_v} = 0 \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \int \mathrm{d}^4 x_1 \, e^{i\bar{p}x_1} \left. \frac{\delta^2 \widetilde{\Gamma}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \right|_{\phi_v} = 0 \,, \qquad (3.13)$$

again for analytic functional relations  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  such that the matrix  $\delta \phi^y / \delta \tilde{\phi}^x$  is invertible. Moreover, from Eq. (2.26) we see that Eq. (3.12) also implies the following relation between the *on-shell* external wavefunctions

$$\psi^{y}(\bar{p}) = \left(\frac{\delta\phi^{y}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x}}\Big|_{\tilde{\phi}_{v}}\right)\tilde{\psi}^{x}(\bar{p}).$$
(3.14)

Note however that eigenstates with nonzero eigenvalues  $\psi^y(p)$  and  $\tilde{\psi}^x(p)$  with off-shell momentum  $p^{\mu}$  are not related in such a simple way. This is because Eq. (3.12) is a congruence transform instead of a similarity transform between the two matrices  $\frac{\delta^2 \tilde{\Gamma}}{\delta \phi^{x_1} \delta \phi^{x_2}} \Big|_{\tilde{\phi}_v}$  and  $\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma}{\delta \phi^{y_1} \delta \phi^{y_2}} \Big|_{\phi_v}$ . Under such a transform, the nonzero eigenvalues are not preserved/invariant, which is also inferred by the mismatch regarding the upper/lower index structure between the two sides of Eq. (2.25).

#### **Three-point Function**

Following Eq. (3.11), one can further move on to the third functional derivatives of  $\Gamma[\phi]$ , which are of course the three-point amputated correlation functions (*c.f.* Eq. (2.28)):

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1x_2x_3} = \frac{\delta\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_3}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\mathcal{M}_{y_1y_2y_3} - \frac{\delta^3\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}} - \left(\frac{\delta^2\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}} + \frac{\delta^2\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}} + \frac{\delta^2\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\right)\frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}}.$$
 (3.15)

We see that this expression involve more inhomogeneous pieces as compared to the second functional derivatives. However, these terms will drop out when computing on-shell amplitudes:

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^4(\bar{p}_1 + \bar{p}_2 + \bar{p}_3) \, i \widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \left(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2, \bar{p}_3\right) = \tilde{\psi}^{x_1}(\bar{p}_1) \, \tilde{\psi}^{x_2}(\bar{p}_2) \, \tilde{\psi}^{x_3}(\bar{p}_3) \left(-i \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1 x_2 x_3} \big|_{\tilde{\phi}_v}\right). \tag{3.16}$$

This is because the inhomogeneous pieces in the first and second lines of Eq. (3.15) respectively contain the following two types of factors:

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^y}: \quad \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^y}\Big|_{\phi_v} = 0, \qquad (3.17a)$$

$$\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}}\frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}}:\qquad \tilde{\psi}^{x_i}(\bar{p}_i)\left(\frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}}\Big|_{\tilde{\phi}_v}\right)\left(\frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}}\Big|_{\phi_v}\right)=0\,,\tag{3.17b}$$

where  $x_i$  refers to an index in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_n}$ , corresponding to an external leg of the diagram. As indicated above, terms with the first type of factors vanish upon enforcing the zero source condition  $\tilde{\phi}(x) = \tilde{\phi}_v(x)$ ; terms with the second type of factors are nonzero at  $\tilde{\phi}(x) = \tilde{\phi}_v(x)$ , but will vanish upon a further contraction with the on-shell external wavefunctions  $\tilde{\psi}^{x_i}(\bar{p}_i)$ , due to Eqs. (2.26) and (3.14). Since they do not change the observable (on-shell) physics, we refer to these quantities as "evanescent." A general parameterization of the evanescent terms that can appear is

$$U_{x_1\cdots x_n} = a_{x_1\cdots x_n}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}} + \sum_{i=1}^n b_{x_1\cdots \hat{x}_i\cdots x_n}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}} \frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

By construction, it satisfies the condition in Eq. (3.4).

Now we can rewrite Eq. (3.15) as

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1x_2x_3} = \frac{\delta\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_3}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}} \,\mathcal{M}_{y_1y_2y_3} + U_{x_1x_2x_3}\,,\tag{3.19}$$

where all the inhomogeneous terms are collectively denoted by the evanescent term  $U_{x_1x_2x_3}$ , which has the structure of Eq. (3.18) (and hence satisfies the condition in Eq. (3.4)). This proves the n = 3 case of the transformation lemma around Eqs. (3.3) and (3.4). It says that the three-point amputated correlation functions  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1x_2x_3}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{y_1y_2y_3}$  are related homogeneously by the transformation matrices  $\delta \phi^{y_i} / \delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_i}$ , up to an evanescent term  $U_{x_1x_2x_3}$  that would not change the on-shell amplitudes  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2, \bar{p}_3)$ .

#### *n*-point Functions

The relation in Eq. (3.19) (with the structure of the evanescent term given in Eq. (3.18)) holds also for higher-point amputated correlation functions, *i.e.*, Eq. (3.3). To show this, one can derive the higher-point analog of Eq. (3.15), and then check if the inhomogeneous pieces are evanescent.

In order to organize the proof, we will use the recursive expression of the *n*-point functions in Eqs. (2.31) and (2.32), where an (n + 1)-point amputated correlation function is concisely written in terms of the *n*-point ones. The n = 3 case that we proved above in Eq. (3.19) (with Eq. (3.18)) serves as the *base case* for the induction. To further prove the result for arbitrary integer  $n \ge 3$ , we need to prove the *induction step*: if Eq. (3.3) (with Eq. (3.18)) holds for k, then it will also hold for k + 1.

To show this, we assume that  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_k}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k}$  are related as in Eq. (3.3):

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k} = \frac{\delta\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_1}}\cdots\frac{\delta\phi^{y_k}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_k}}\,\mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k} + U_{x_1\cdots x_k}\,,\tag{3.20}$$

where  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$  is an evanescent term that has the form in Eq. (3.18):

$$U_{x_1\cdots x_k} = a_{x_1\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}} + \sum_{i=1}^k b_{x_1\cdots \hat{x}_i\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}} \frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}}.$$
(3.21)

We then make use of the recursion relations for both  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  and  $\mathcal{M}$ 

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k x_{k+1}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k} - \sum_{i=1}^k \widetilde{G}^y_{x_{k+1} x_i} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots \hat{x}_i y\cdots x_k} , \quad (3.22a)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k y_{k+1}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{y_{k+1}}} \mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k} - \sum_{i=1}^k G^z_{y_{k+1}y_i} \mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots \hat{y}_i z \cdots y_k}, \quad (3.22b)$$

to show that consequently  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k x_{k+1}}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k y_{k+1}}$  will also be related as in Eq. (3.3). To this end, we compute the inhomogeneous pieces at k + 1:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{k}x_{k+1}} - \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{1}}} \cdots \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \mathcal{M}_{y_{1}\cdots y_{k}y_{k+1}}$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{1}}} \cdots \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{i}}} \cdots \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k}}} \right) \mathcal{M}_{y_{1}\cdots \hat{y}_{i}z\cdots y_{k}}$$

$$\times \left( \frac{\delta\phi^{z}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{y}} \widetilde{G}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y} - \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} G_{y_{k+1}y_{i}}^{z} - \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{z}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{i}}} \right)$$

$$+ \left( \frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} U_{x_{1}\cdots x_{k}} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} \widetilde{G}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y} U_{x_{1}\cdots \hat{x}_{i}y\cdots x_{k}} \right).$$
(3.23)

To obtain this result, we have used Eqs. (3.20) and (3.22). Our goal is to show that the right hand side has the general structure given in Eq. (3.18), so that it is an evanescent term. Let us check that this is true for the first and the second terms in turn.

To check the evanescence of the first term in Eq. (3.23), we need to study the relation between  $\tilde{G}^y_{x_{k+1}x_i}$  and  $G^z_{y_{k+1}y_i}$ . Recalling the definition in Eq. (2.30) and the relation in Eq. (2.15), we get

$$G_{x_1x_2}^y = i\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2z} D^{zy} = -\mathcal{M}_{x_1x_2z} \left(\frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^z\delta\phi^y}\right)^{-1}.$$
(3.24)

Therefore, using the relations in Eqs. (3.11) and (3.15), we have

$$\widetilde{G}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y} = -\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}u} \left(\frac{\delta^{2}\widetilde{\Gamma}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{u}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{y}}\right)^{-1}$$

$$= -\left(\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{i}}}\frac{\delta\phi^{v}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{u}}\mathcal{M}_{y_{k+1}y_{i}v} - \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{y_{1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{i}}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{y}}\frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}\right)\frac{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{u}}{\delta\phi^{w}}\left(\frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{w}\delta\phi^{z}}\right)^{-1}\frac{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{y}}{\delta\phi^{z}} + U_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y}$$

$$= \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\phi^{z}}\frac{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{y}}{\delta\phi^{z}}G_{y_{k+1}y_{i}}^{z} + \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{z}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}}\frac{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{y}}{\delta\phi^{z}} + U_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where  $U_{x_{k+1}x_i}^y$  collects terms that contain the evanescent factors in Eq. (3.17), in a similar fashion as in Eq. (3.18). We emphasize that in the parentheses of the second line above, the second term is not evanescent and hence did not get collected into  $U_{x_{k+1}x_i}^y$ . This is because unlike  $x_{k+1}$  or  $x_i$ , the index u is not a leg, since it not an index in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_{k+1}}$ . It yields the non-evanescent inhomogeneous piece in the last line. With the relation in Eq. (3.25), the first line of the result in Eq. (3.23) simplifies into

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \frac{\delta \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \cdots \frac{\delta \widehat{\phi}^{y_k}}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_k}} \right) \mathcal{M}_{y_1 \cdots \hat{y}_i z \cdots y_k} \frac{\delta \phi^z}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^y} U^y_{x_{k+1} x_i} \in U_{x_1 \cdots x_{k+1}}.$$
(3.26)

As indicated here, this is clearly an evanescent term, because of the  $U_{x_{k+1}x_i}^y$  factor.

Now let us move on to the second term in Eq. (3.23). This term contains the evanescent term  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$ , whose general form — given in Eq. (3.21) — comprises "*a*-type" and "*b*-type" evanescent factors in Eqs. (3.17a) and (3.17b), respectively. However, if one takes a functional derivative  $\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}}$ , and/or makes an index replacement  $x_i \to y$ , an evanescent term of the *a*-type or *b*-type might become non-evanescent. In what follows, we show that despite this, the combination in the second term of Eq. (3.23) is still evanescent.

Since the second term of Eq. (3.23) is linear in  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$ , we can examine its *a*-type and *b*-type terms separately. Let us begin with the *a*-type terms. The evanescence of an *a*-type term does not rely on any of its indices being a leg  $x_i$ , so the index replacement  $x_i \rightarrow y$  would not cause any problems. On the other hand, it does rely on containing a factor of the first functional derivative of  $\Gamma$ , so the additional functional derivative could potentially be a problem. However, since this additional functional derivative is at a leg  $x_{k+1}$ , any potentially problematic term that arises from an *a*-type term will simply be a *b*-type term, which is still evanescent:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \left( a_{x_1\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}} \right) \supset a_{x_1\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}} \in U_{x_1\cdots x_{k+1}}.$$
(3.27)

Therefore, for *a*-type terms in  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$ , the second term in Eq. (3.23) remains evanescent for each individual term in its parentheses.

Now let us check the *b*-type terms. Acting the additional functional derivative on

them yields the following non-evanescent terms

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} U_{x_1\cdots x_k} \supset \frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \left( \sum_{i=1}^k b_{x_1\cdots\hat{x}_i\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}} \frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}} \right)$$
$$\supset \sum_{i=1}^k b_{x_1\cdots\hat{x}_i\cdots x_k}^{y_1} \left( \frac{\delta^2\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}} \frac{\delta^2\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}} + \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_i}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta^3\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_1}\delta\phi^{y_2}\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}} \right). \quad (3.28)$$

On the other hand, the external-to-internal index replacement  $x_i \to y$  yields the following non-evanescent terms

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{k} \widetilde{G}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y} U_{x_{1}\cdots\hat{x}_{i}y\cdots x_{k}} \supset -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \widetilde{G}_{x_{k+1}x_{i}}^{y} b_{x_{1}\cdots\hat{x}_{i}\cdots x_{k}}^{y_{1}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{y}} \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}$$
$$\supset -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\phi^{x}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y}}{\delta\phi^{z}} G_{y_{k+1}y_{i}}^{z} + \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{z}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}\delta\phi^{x_{i}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{z}} \right) b_{x_{1}\cdots\hat{x}_{i}\cdots x_{k}}^{y_{1}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{y}} \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}$$
$$\supset -\sum_{i=1}^{k} b_{x_{1}\cdots\hat{x}_{i}\cdots x_{k}}^{y_{1}} \left( \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{i}}} G_{y_{k+1}y_{i}}^{y_{2}} + \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}\delta\phi^{x_{i}}} \right) \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}\delta\phi^{y_{2}}}$$
$$\supset -\sum_{i=1}^{k} b_{x_{1}\cdots\hat{x}_{i}\cdots x_{k}}^{y_{1}} \left( \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}} \frac{\delta\phi^{y_{i}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{i}}} \frac{\delta^{3}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{k+1}}\delta\phi^{y_{i}}} + \frac{\delta^{2}\phi^{y_{2}}}{\delta\phi^{x_{k+1}}\delta\phi^{x_{i}}} \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}\delta\phi^{y_{2}}} \right), \quad (3.29)$$

where we have used the results in Eq. (3.25), Eq. (3.24), and then Eq. (2.28). We see that the non-evanescent terms in Eq. (3.29) precisely cancel those from Eq. (3.28). Therefore, for *b*-type terms in  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$ , the second term in Eq. (3.23) remains evanescent as a sum of the two terms in its parentheses.

Combining our investigations on *a*-type and *b*-type terms in  $U_{x_1\cdots x_k}$ , we conclude that the second term of the result in Eq. (3.23) remains evanescent:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} U_{x_1\cdots x_k} - \sum_{i=1}^k \widetilde{G}^y_{x_{k+1}x_i} U_{x_1\cdots\hat{x}_iy\cdots x_k} \in U_{x_1\cdots x_{k+1}}.$$
(3.30)

Eqs. (3.26) and (3.30) together then complete our proof of the induction step, namely that the following relation for (k + 1)-point amputated correlation functions holds

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_k x_{k+1}} = \frac{\delta \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \cdots \frac{\delta \phi^{y_k}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_k}} \frac{\delta \phi^{y_{k+1}}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_{k+1}}} \mathcal{M}_{y_1\cdots y_k y_{k+1}} + U_{x_1\cdots x_k x_{k+1}} \,, \tag{3.31}$$

provided that it holds for k-point functions (Eq. (3.20)). Combining this induction step with the base case that we proved for n = 3 in Eq. (3.19), this proves that Eq. (3.3) (together with Eq. (3.18)) holds for an arbitrary integer  $n \ge 3$ .

To complete our proof of the transformation lemma, let us show that Eqs. (3.3) and (3.18) imply that the on-shell amplitudes are the same:

$$(2\pi)^{4}\delta^{4}(\bar{p}_{1} + \dots + \bar{p}_{n})i\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}(\bar{p}_{1}, \dots, \bar{p}_{n})$$

$$= \left[\tilde{\psi}^{x_{1}}(\bar{p}_{1}) \cdots \tilde{\psi}^{x_{n}}(\bar{p}_{n})\right] \left(-i\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{1}\dots x_{n}}|_{\bar{\phi}_{v}}\right)$$

$$= \left[\tilde{\psi}^{x_{1}}(\bar{p}_{1}) \cdots \tilde{\psi}^{x_{n}}(\bar{p}_{n})\right] \left(\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{1}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{1}}}\Big|_{\bar{\phi}_{v}}\right) \cdots \left(\frac{\delta\phi^{y_{n}}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_{n}}}\Big|_{\bar{\phi}_{v}}\right) \left(-i\mathcal{M}_{y_{1}\dots y_{n}}|_{\phi_{v}}\right)$$

$$= \left[\psi^{y_{1}}(\bar{p}_{1}) \cdots \psi^{y_{n}}(\bar{p}_{n})\right] \left(-i\mathcal{M}_{y_{1}\dots y_{n}}|_{\phi_{v}}\right)$$

$$= (2\pi)^{4}\delta^{4}(\bar{p}_{1} + \dots + \bar{p}_{n})i\mathcal{A}(\bar{p}_{1}, \dots, \bar{p}_{n}), \qquad (3.32)$$

where we have used the relation in Eq. (3.14).

#### 3.2 Applications to Tree and One-Loop Amplitudes

We now apply the transformation lemma to show that tree-level and one-loop amplitudes are invariant under a general field redefinition that accommodates derivatives:

$$\eta \longrightarrow \tilde{\eta} : \qquad \eta = f[\tilde{\eta}].$$
 (3.33)

Our task is to show that under such a field redefinition, the change of the 1PI effective action can be described by Eq. (3.2), *i.e.*,  $\tilde{\Gamma}[\tilde{\phi}] = \Gamma[\phi[\tilde{\phi}]]$  for some  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$ .

#### Tree-Level Amplitudes

We begin with the tree-level case. When we perform a field redefinition described by Eq. (3.33), the new action at tree level is simply given by substituting in that relation (see Eq. (A.6) for a general expression):

$$\tilde{S}[\tilde{\eta}] = S[f[\tilde{\eta}]]. \qquad (3.34)$$

Meanwhile, the tree-level 1PI effective action is just given by the action of the theory

$$\Gamma[\phi] = S[\phi], \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] = \widetilde{S}[\widetilde{\phi}].$$
(3.35)

Putting Eqs. (3.34) and (3.35) together, we get the relation between the new and old 1PI effective actions at the tree level:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] = \widetilde{S}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] = S\left[f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]\right] = \Gamma\left[f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]\right].$$
(3.36)

We see that they do satisfy the transformation relation in Eq. (3.2), with the functional  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  identified to be the field redefinition functional itself:

$$\phi[\tilde{\phi}] = f[\tilde{\phi}]. \tag{3.37}$$

The transformation lemma then implies that tree-level on-shell amplitudes are invariant under the general field redefinition in Eq. (3.33).

#### **One-Loop Amplitudes**

In the one-loop case, both Eqs. (3.34) and (3.35) become more complicated. As elaborated in App. A, under a general field redefinition in Eq. (3.33), the action in terms of the new field at the loop level is (see Eq. (A.6))

$$\tilde{S}\left[\tilde{\eta}\right] = S\left[f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right]\right] - i\log\det\left(\frac{\delta\eta^y}{\delta\tilde{\eta}^x}\right).$$
(3.38)

Note the extra one-loop sized Jacobian term compared to Eq. (3.34). Apart from anomalous fermion chiral transformations, this term vanishes if one works with dimensional regularization [3, 4]. However, we keep it here to make our argument independent of the choice of the regularization scheme. On the other hand, up to one-loop level, the relation between  $\Gamma[\phi]$  and  $S[\phi]$  is also modified:

$$\Gamma[\phi] = S[\phi] + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left( \frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta \eta^{x_1} \delta \eta^{x_2}} \bigg|_{\eta=\phi} \right) \,. \tag{3.39}$$

With Eqs. (3.38) and (3.39), we can obtain the relation between  $\widetilde{\Gamma}[\phi]$  and  $\Gamma[\phi]$ . The second functional derivatives of the new action are

$$\frac{\delta^2 \tilde{S}}{\delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_2}} = \frac{\delta \eta^{y_1}}{\delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_1}} \frac{\delta \eta^{y_2}}{\delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta \eta^{y_1} \delta \eta^{y_2}} + \frac{\delta^2 \eta^{y_1}}{\delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \tilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \eta^{y_1}} + (\text{one-loop terms}) .$$
(3.40)

Plugging this in, we obtain the following relation up to one-loop level

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] &= \widetilde{S}[\widetilde{\phi}] + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left( \frac{\delta^2 \widetilde{S}}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \right) \\ &= S\Big[ f\left[ \widetilde{\phi} \right] \Big] - i \log \det \left( \frac{\delta \eta^y}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^x} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left( \frac{\delta \eta^{y_1}}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1}} \frac{\delta \eta^{y_2}}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta \eta^{y_1} \delta \eta^{y_2}} \Big|_{f[\widetilde{\phi}]} + \frac{\delta^2 \eta^{y_1}}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \eta^{y_1}} \Big|_{f[\widetilde{\phi}]} \Big) \\ &= S\Big[ f\left[ \widetilde{\phi} \right] \Big] + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left( \frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta \eta^{y_1} \delta \eta^{y_2}} \Big|_{f[\widetilde{\phi}]} + \frac{\delta^2 \eta^y}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \frac{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1}}{\delta \eta^{y_1}} \frac{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}}{\delta \eta^{y_1}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \eta^{y_2}} \Big|_{f[\widetilde{\phi}]} \Big) \\ &= \Gamma\Big[ f\left[ \widetilde{\phi} \right] \Big] + \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \log \left[ 1 + \frac{\delta^2 \eta^y}{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1} \delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}} \Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \left( \frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta \eta^{y_1} \delta \eta^{z_1}} \right)^{-1} \frac{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_1}}{\delta \eta^{y_1}} \frac{\delta \widetilde{\eta}^{x_2}}{\delta \eta^{y_2}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \eta^y} \Big|_{f[\widetilde{\phi}]} \Big] . \quad (3.41) \end{split}$$

We see that there is an extra term compared to Eq. (3.36). Although this term looks complicated, after expanding the log it will yield a series of terms that are proportional to the tree-level equation of motion  $\delta S/\delta \eta^y$ , with some one-loop order coefficients  $a^y$ :

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] = \Gamma\left[f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]\right] + a^{y}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] \left(\frac{\delta S}{\delta\eta^{y}}\Big|_{f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]}\right) \,. \tag{3.42}$$

Since  $a^{y}[\tilde{\phi}]$  are one-loop order, we can replace S with  $\Gamma$ , as the difference introduced will be two-loop order. For the same reason, we can keep the accuracy only to the first power of  $a^{y}[\tilde{\phi}]$ . Carrying out these manipulations, we get

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] = \Gamma\left[f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]\right] + a^{y}\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] \left(\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{y}}\Big|_{f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]}\right) = \Gamma\left[f\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right] + a\left[\widetilde{\phi}\right]\right].$$
(3.43)

This shows that up to one-loop order, the 1PI effective actions  $\tilde{\Gamma}[\tilde{\phi}]$  and  $\Gamma[\phi]$  again satisfy the transformation relation in Eq. (3.2), where the functional  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  is identified as

$$\phi[\tilde{\phi}] = f\left[\tilde{\phi}\right] + a\left[\tilde{\phi}\right]. \tag{3.44}$$

The transformation lemma then implies that on-shell amplitudes up to one-loop order are invariant under the field redefinition in Eq. (3.33).

#### 4 Towards a Geometric Interpretation

In the previous section, we used the transformation lemma to show that the tree-level and one-loop amputated correlation functions transform as tensors under generalized field redefinitions up to terms that vanish when the sources are set to zero and the external states are taken to be on shell. Since the proof of the transformation lemma in Sec. 3.1 is rather technical, it would be useful to have a more intuitive explanation of these results. With this motivation in mind, we note that the recursion relation Eq. (2.32) appears to have a tensor-like structure — the relation between the n+1 and the n leg results resembles that of a covariant derivative acting on a tensor:

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n x_{n+1}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{x_{n+1}}} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} - \sum_{i=1}^n G^y_{x_{n+1}x_i} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots \hat{x}_i y \cdots x_n} \quad \stackrel{?}{=} \quad \nabla_{x_{n+1}} \mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} . \quad (4.1)$$

Having the notion of a covariant derivative evokes the expectation that this can be used to define parallel transport along some kind of geometric space.

However, such a geometric interpretation requires that we can identify a manifold such that

a) The functional derivative 
$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^x}$$
 can be interpreted as a coordinate derivative. (4.2a)

b) The factor  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  serves as a connection. (4.2b)

c) The amputated correlation functions  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n}$  transform as tensors. (4.2c)

We already know that the third condition fails. When the transformation lemma applies, the amputated correlation functions do not transform as tensors, due to the extra evanescent term:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] = \Gamma\left[\phi[\widetilde{\phi}]\right] \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1 \cdots x_n} = \frac{\delta \phi^{y_1}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_1}} \cdots \frac{\delta \phi^{y_n}}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{x_n}} \mathcal{M}_{y_1 \cdots y_n} + U_{x_1 \cdots x_n} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

Nevertheless, one could imagine that some sort of procedure to quotient out the evanescent terms exists, leaving behind a well defined "projective" geometry, that we will refer to as "functional geometry." This section is devoted to exploring the possibility that the resulting "functional manifold" could be constructed. In particular, we will discuss aspects where this approach appears to be successful, and we will highlight some ways in which it fails. We will also comment on the relation between functional geometry and the well-established field space geometry formalism (which does not incorporate derivative field redefinitions).

#### 4.1 Evidence for a Functional Manifold: Success and Failure

We begin by checking the condition in Eq. (4.2a). Our goal is to find a manifold on which the functional derivatives  $\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi(x)}$  can be identified with coordinate derivatives. To this end, we consider the so-called "field configuration space," which is the collection of all the  $\phi(x)$  field configurations that are integrated over when computing the path integral. This space is naturally endowed with a functional differentiable structure, and hence can be viewed as a differential manifold, albeit an infinite dimensional one [61, 102, 103]. We refer to this manifold as the "functional manifold."

One way to parameterize the field configuration space is to simply specify the values of the field at all the spacetime points:

$$\left\{\phi^x \mid x \in \text{spacetime}\right\}. \tag{4.4}$$

Each allowed value of the set of variables in Eq. (4.4) gives a specific field configuration  $\phi(x)$ , and by our construction, corresponds to a specific point on the functional manifold. The whole functional manifold is a collection of all such points. The functional manifold is therefore charted by  $\{\phi^x\}$ . Functions on this manifold are functions of the field configurations, or equivalently functionals of the field  $\phi^x$ , for example the 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$ . Therefore, functional derivatives with respect to the field  $\phi^x$ are just coordinate derivatives on this manifold, and they form a basis for the tangent space:

$$\left\{\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^x} \quad \text{with } \phi^x \text{ parameterizing the configuration space}\right\}. \tag{4.5}$$

#### 4.1.1 Success: 1PI Effective Action as a Scalar

We argued in Sec. 3.2 that under a general field redefinition parameterized by Eq. (3.6), the 1PI effective action (up to one-loop level) transforms as in Eq. (4.3):

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}[\widetilde{\phi}] = \Gamma[\phi[\widetilde{\phi}]] . \tag{4.6}$$

As a functional relation,  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  is a map between the two field configurations,  $\{\phi^x\}$  and  $\{\tilde{\phi}^x\}$ . Alternatively, one can view this map as reparameterizing a point on the functional manifold  $\{\phi^x\}$  to the same point using the new set of variables  $\{\tilde{\phi}^x\}$ . Therefore, it is a re-charting or coordinate change on the functional manifold.<sup>4</sup> From this point of view, Eq. (4.6) means that the 1PI effective action transforms as a scalar on the functional manifold.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Note that this coordinate change  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$  is not necessarily the same as the field redefinition relation  $\eta = f[\tilde{\eta}], c.f.$  Eqs. (3.37) and (3.44).

#### 4.1.2 Success: Physical Vacuum as a Geometric Point

Since the 1PI effective action transforms as a scalar, its first functional derivative transforms as a vector on the functional manifold (c.f. Eq. (3.8)):

$$\frac{\delta\widetilde{\Gamma}}{\delta\widetilde{\phi}^x}\Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} = \frac{\delta\phi^y}{\delta\widetilde{\phi}^x}\Big|_{\widetilde{\phi}} \frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^y}\Big|_{\phi[\widetilde{\phi}]}.$$
(4.7)

Recall from Eq. (2.14) that the physical vacuum field configuration  $\phi_v(x)$  (for the original theory  $S[\eta]$ ) is determined by

$$\left. \frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \phi^x} \right|_{\phi = \phi_v} = 0 \,. \tag{4.8}$$

The transformation law in Eq. (4.7) then implies that the physical vacuum is a geometric point on the functional manifold — it is independent of the chart chosen, and its coordinates changing accordingly:

$$\phi_v(x) = \phi[\tilde{\phi}_v](x) \,. \tag{4.9}$$

#### 4.1.3 Failure: Evanescent Terms Ruin Covariance

Given these successes, we move on to check the conditions in Eqs. (4.2b) and (4.2c). Unfortunately, it turns out that the functional manifold considered above fails to satisfy these conditions. However, it is still enlightening to see how it fails, since this can provide guidance for alternative constructions.

First, we can check the properties of  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$ . We will argue that it does not have the appropriate transformation rules to be interpreted as a connection. Following standard methodology, we use  $\{\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^x}, \delta\phi^x\}$  as the bases of the tangent and cotangent spaces of the functional manifold. Then a connection  $\Gamma$  can be defined using

$$\delta\left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{y_3}}\right) \equiv \delta\phi^{y_2} \nabla_{\phi^{y_2}} \left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{y_3}}\right) \equiv \delta\phi^{y_2} \Gamma^{y_1}_{y_2y_3} \left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{y_1}}\right) \,, \tag{4.10}$$

where  $\Gamma_{y_2y_3}^{y_1}$  are components of the connection (not to be confused with the 1PI effective action). Now consider a coordinate change  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$ . The bases transform as tensors

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^x} = \frac{\delta\phi^y}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^x} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^y}, \qquad (4.11a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\phi}^x = \frac{\delta \tilde{\phi}^x}{\delta \phi^y} \,\delta \phi^y \,. \tag{4.11b}$$

This leads to the following standard transformation law for a connection:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{x_2x_3}^{x_1} = \frac{\delta\phi^{y_2}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}}\frac{\delta\phi^{y_3}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\frac{\delta\phi^{x_1}}{\delta\phi^{y_1}}\Gamma_{y_2y_3}^{y_1} + \frac{\delta^2\phi^{y_1}}{\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_2}\delta\tilde{\phi}^{x_3}}\frac{\delta\phi^{x_1}}{\delta\phi^{y_1}}.$$
(4.12)

Now comparing with the transformation property of  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  derived in Eq. (3.25), we see that  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  does not satisfy Eq. (4.12). Therefore, it cannot serve as a connection on the functional manifold. However, it is worth mentioning that the transformation property of  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  in Eq. (3.25) is very close to that in Eq. (4.12); the only difference is that Eq. (3.25) contains an extra evanescent term. Given that  $G_{x_{n+1}x_i}^y$  does not serve as a connection on the functional manifold, the right-hand side of the recursion relation in Eq. (4.1) cannot be interpreted as a covariant derivative " $\nabla_{x_{n+1}}$ ".

The same essential obstruction holds for the amputated correlation functions. As derived in Sec. 3, the transformation property of the amputated correlation functions are given in Eq. (4.3). Clearly, they do not transform as tensors on the functional manifold, again due to the extra evanescent term. So similar to the situation of Eq. (4.2b), the condition in Eq. (4.2c) is almost satisfied, except for the evanescent term.

#### 4.1.4 Failure: Vanishing Curvature Tensor

We will now identify another fundamental issue with the functional geometry picture as defined above. We show that if we ignore the evanescent term issue discussed above and mindlessly use  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  defined in Eq. (2.30) as a connection to compute the Riemann curvature tensor, then it vanishes. One straightforward way to see this follows directly from the recursion relation Eq. (4.1) — using it twice, we find

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n yz} = \nabla_z \nabla_y \,\mathcal{M}_{x_1\cdots x_n} \,. \tag{4.13}$$

Then the crossing symmetry of  $\mathcal{M}_{x_1 \cdots x_n yz}$  between the legs y and z implies that

$$\left[\nabla_{y}, \nabla_{z}\right] \mathcal{M}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{n}} = 0, \qquad (4.14)$$

namely that there is no curvature. We will provide a bit more insight into this issue in Sec. 4.2.5 below, in terms of so-called field space geometry.

#### 4.2 Relation to the Field Space Geometry

There is a well-established geometric picture for amplitudes in the literature [56–66], based on the idea of the "field space manifold," which accommodates a narrower set of field redefinitions, namely those that do not involve derivatives. In this section, we comment on the relation between the functional manifold and the field space manifold.

We will also discuss how a variety of quantities on the functional manifold reproduce geometric statements that have been derived using the field space geometry picture. Some of these have been shown in [5]. Here we give a more detailed discussion.

#### 4.2.1 Review of Field Space Geometry

We briefly review the field space geometry picture. For this purpose, we again focus on the case of scalar fields, similar with Sec. 2.1. We consider an EFT of scalar fields  $\{\phi^a\}$ . The most general Lagrangian involving up to two derivatives is:

$$\mathcal{L} = -V(\phi) + \frac{1}{2} g_{ab}(\phi) \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{a}\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi^{b}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\partial^{4}\right).$$
(4.15)

 $V(\phi)$  and  $g_{ab}(\phi)$  can be interpreted as functions on the so-called "field space manifold," which consists of all the allowed field space (or target space) points. Note that each point on the field space manifold is specified by the set of values  $\{\phi^a\}$ , so it is a finite dimensional manifold, with its dimension being the number of field flavors. The field space geometry deals with the differential geometry on this manifold.

A field redefinition without derivatives

$$\phi = f(\tilde{\phi}), \qquad (4.16)$$

can be viewed as a coordinate change on the field space manifold. As usual, the bases of its tangent and cotangent spaces  $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^a}, d\phi^a\}$  transform as tensors

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\phi}^a} = \frac{\partial \phi^b}{\partial \tilde{\phi}^a} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^b}, \qquad (4.17a)$$

$$\mathrm{d}\tilde{\phi}^a = \frac{\partial\tilde{\phi}^a}{\partial\phi^b}\,\mathrm{d}\phi^b\,.\tag{4.17b}$$

Using these bases, a connection on the manifold can be introduced as

$$d\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi^c}\right) \equiv d\phi^b \,\nabla_{\phi^b}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi^c}\right) \equiv d\phi^b \,\Gamma^a_{bc}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi^a}\right) \,, \tag{4.18}$$

where  $\Gamma_{bc}^{a}$  are the connection components (not to be confused with 1PI effective actions). A covariant derivative of a general tensor is then given by

$$\nabla_c T^{a\cdots}{}_{b\cdots} = \partial_c T^{a\cdots}{}_{b\cdots} + \left(\Gamma^a_{ck} T^{k\cdots}{}_{b\cdots} + \cdots\right) - \left(\Gamma^k_{cb} T^{a\cdots}{}_{k\cdots} + \cdots\right).$$
(4.19)

We note that the function  $g_{ab}(\phi)$  transforms as a (0,2)-tensor under the non-

derivative field redefinition in Eq. (4.16):

$$\tilde{g}_{ab}(\tilde{\phi}) = \frac{\partial \phi^c}{\partial \tilde{\phi}^a} \frac{\partial \phi^d}{\partial \tilde{\phi}^b} g_{cd}(\phi) \,. \tag{4.20}$$

This object is a natural choice of a metric on the field space manifold. If we require the connection in Eq. (4.18) to be compatible with this metric, *i.e.*,  $\nabla_c g_{ab} = 0$ , we get the usual Levi-Civita connection:

$$\Gamma_{bc}^{a} = \frac{1}{2} g^{ak} \left( g_{kb,c} + g_{kc,b} - g_{bc,k} \right) , \qquad (4.21)$$

where indices following a comma denote partial derivatives.

The field space geometry is a Riemannian geometry. On-shell amplitudes can be written in terms of geometric tensors on the field space manifold, multiplied by additional kinematic factors. For example, for the theory up to two-derivative interactions given in Eq. (4.15), the three-point amplitudes can be written as

$$-\left(\prod_{i=1}^{3} \overline{g}_{a_{i}a_{i}}^{1/2}\right) \mathcal{A}_{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}}\left(\overline{p}_{1}, \overline{p}_{2}, \overline{p}_{3}\right) = \overline{V}_{;(a_{1}a_{2}a_{3})}.$$
(4.22)

Here indices following a semicolon denote covariant derivatives under the Levi-Civita connection in Eq. (4.21), and the parentheses denote a normalized symmetrization of these indices. The bars on the geometric quantities,  $g_{ab}$ , V, etc. indicates evaluating them at the physical vacuum point on the field space manifold. The four-point amplitudes have a similar but richer expression:

$$-\left(\prod_{i=1}^{4} \overline{g}_{a_{i}a_{i}}^{1/2}\right) \mathcal{A}_{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4}}\left(\bar{p}_{1}, \bar{p}_{2}, \bar{p}_{3}, \bar{p}_{4}\right) = \overline{V}_{;(a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4})} + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i < j} s_{ij} \overline{R}_{a_{i}(a_{k}a_{l})a_{j}} \\ + \left[\overline{V}_{;(a_{1}a_{2}b)} \frac{\overline{g}^{bc}}{s_{12} - m_{b}^{2}} \overline{V}_{;(a_{3}a_{4}c)}\right]_{3 \text{ perms}} . \quad (4.23)$$

where  $R_{abcd}$  denotes the Riemann curvature tensor derived from the metric  $g_{ab}$  in the standard way. We see from these examples that the field space geometry does not address the kinematic factors in the amplitudes. It only provides a geometric interpretation for the coefficients of each kinematic combination that can appear.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that Eqs. (4.22) and (4.23) assume w.l.o.g. that  $\overline{g}_{ab}$  and  $\overline{V}_{;ab} = m_a^2 \overline{g}_{ab}$  are diagonal. See [77, 78] for details of how to avoid this assumption with the use of vielbeins.

#### 4.2.2 Embedding the Field Space Manifold into the Functional Manifold

The field space geometry is constructed on the manifold of the field space, while the functional manifold discussed in Sec. 4.1 consists of the field configuration space. Therefore, the finite dimensional field space manifold could be identified with a submanifold of the infinite dimensional functional manifold, defined by the restriction that it only contains the constant field configurations.

However, this is not to say that the field space geometry only handles constant field configurations. It addresses arbitrary field configurations by invoking the field maps  $\phi^a(x)$  from the spacetime manifold to the field space manifold, inducing a factorized structure of the connection (*c.f.* Eq. (4.18)):

$$\mathrm{d}\phi^{b} = \mathrm{d}x^{\mu}\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{b}\right) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \mathrm{d}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi^{c}}\right) = \mathrm{d}x^{\mu}\left[\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{b}\right)\Gamma^{a}_{bc}\right]\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi^{a}}\right) \,. \tag{4.24}$$

The term in the squared bracket can be viewed as a connection that defines a covariant derivative  $\mathscr{D}_{\mu}$  on the spacetime manifold; see *e.g.* [66]. For example, the first derivative of the potential  $V_{,a} = V_{;a}$  is a (0, 1)-tensor on the field space manifold. Its spacetime covariant derivative is then given by

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mu}V_{;a} = \partial_{\mu}V_{;a} - \Gamma^{c}_{ba}\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{b}\right)V_{;c} = \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{b}\right)\nabla_{b}V_{;a} = \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{b}\right)V_{;ab}.$$
(4.25)

On the other hand, the functional manifold is formed by all the field maps  $\{\phi^a(x)\}$ . The bases of its tangent and cotangent space are "promoted" from the field space manifold version into (*c.f.* Eq. (4.11))

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^a} \longrightarrow \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^a(x)}, \qquad (4.26a)$$

$$d\phi^a \longrightarrow \delta\phi^a(x)$$
. (4.26b)

#### 4.2.3 Reproducing the Connection on the Field Space Manifold

We would like to reproduce geometric quantities on the field space manifold from quantities on the functional manifold. To this end, we should restrict the functional manifold quantities onto the submanifold formed by constant field configurations, namely by taking

$$\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a} = 0. \qquad (4.27)$$

In what follows, we will show how to reproduce the field space manifold connection  $\Gamma_{bc}^{a}$  from  $G_{x_{1}x_{2}}^{y}$ , even though the latter does not serve as a connection on the functional manifold. More specifically, we will take the definition of  $G_{x_{1}x_{2}}^{y}$  in Eq. (2.30) and apply

it to the theory given by the Lagrangian in Eq. (4.15) at the tree level. We then restrict the resulting expression onto the submanifold formed by constant field configurations, and show that this gives us  $\Gamma_{bc}^{a}$ .

We begin with the 1PI effective action at tree level, which is just the action:

$$\Gamma[\phi] = S[\phi] = \int d^4x \left[ -V(\phi) + \frac{1}{2} g_{ab}(\phi) \left(\partial_\mu \phi^a\right) \left(\partial^\mu \phi^b\right) \right]_x.$$
(4.28)

Here everything in the squared bracket is evaluated at the spacetime point x, as indicated by the subscript x shorthand. Note that without following a comma or semicolon, this subscript x is not denoting a functional derivative, but simply denotes evaluating the function at x, as in the cases of  $\phi^x$  and  $J_x$ . Note that we are keeping the flavor indices explicit. We need its first functional derivative

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma}{\delta\phi^a(x_1)} = -\left[g_{ai}\left(\partial^2\phi^i\right) + \left(g_{ai,j} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ij,a}\right)\left(\partial_\mu\phi^i\right)\left(\partial^\mu\phi^j\right) + V_{,a}\right]_{x_1},\qquad(4.29)$$

its second functional derivative

$$\frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{a}(x_{1})\delta\phi^{b}(x_{2})} = -\left\{ \left(g_{ab}\right)_{x_{1}} \left[\partial^{2}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2})\right] + \left(g_{ai,b}\partial^{2}\phi^{i}\right)_{x_{1}}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) + \left[\left(g_{ab,i}-g_{ib,a}+g_{ai,b}\right)(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i})\right]_{x_{1}} \left[\partial^{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2})\right] + \left[\left(g_{ai,jb}-\frac{1}{2}g_{ij,ab}\right)(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i})(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j})\right]_{x_{1}}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) + \left(V_{,ab}\right)_{x_{1}}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2})\right\},$$
(4.30)

and its third functional derivative

$$\frac{\delta^{3}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{a}(x_{1})\delta\phi^{b}(x_{2})\delta\phi^{k}(z)} = -\left\{ (g_{ab,k})_{x_{1}} \left[ \partial^{2}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \right] \delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) + (g_{ak,b})_{x_{1}}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \left[ \partial^{2}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \right] + (g_{ab,k}-g_{kb,a}+g_{ak,b})_{x_{1}} \left[ \partial_{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \right] \left[ \partial^{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \right] + \left[ (g_{ab,ik}-g_{ib,ak}+g_{ai,bk})(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}) \right]_{x_{1}} \left[ \partial^{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \right] \delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) + \left[ (g_{ai,kb}-g_{ik,ab}+g_{ak,ib})(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}) \right]_{x_{1}} \delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \left[ \partial^{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \right] + \left[ g_{ai,bk}(\partial^{2}\phi_{i}) + \left( g_{ai,jbk} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ij,abk} \right) (\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i})(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}) \right]_{x_{1}} \delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) + \left( V_{,abk} \right)_{x_{1}} \delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \right\}.$$
(4.31)

Now using the definition in Eq. (2.30) and restricting to the constant field configurations, we get

$$G_{ab}^{c}(x_{1}, x_{2}; y)\Big|_{\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}=0} \equiv -\frac{\delta^{3}\Gamma}{\delta\phi^{a}(x_{1})\delta\phi^{b}(x_{2})\delta\phi^{k}(z)} iD^{kc}(z, y)\Big|_{\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}=0}$$

$$= \int d^{4}z \Big\{ g_{ab,k} \Big[ \partial^{2}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \Big] \delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) + g_{ak,b}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \Big[ \partial^{2}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \Big] \\ + (g_{ab,k} - g_{kb,a} + g_{ak,b}) \Big[ \partial_{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2}) \Big] \Big[ \partial^{\mu}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \Big] \\ + V_{,abk}\delta^{4}(x_{1}-x_{2})\delta^{4}(x_{1}-z) \Big\} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} e^{-ip(z-y)} \frac{-1}{g_{kc}p^{2}-V_{,kc}}.$$
(4.32)

It is more convenient to take a Fourier transform

$$\int d^{4}x_{1} d^{4}x_{2} d^{4}y e^{ip_{1}x_{1}+ip_{2}x_{2}} e^{-iqy} \left[ G_{ab}^{c}(x_{1},x_{2};y) \left|_{\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}=0} \right] \right]$$

$$= (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{4}(p_{1}+p_{2}-q) \frac{1}{g_{kc}q^{2}-V_{,kc}} \left[ \frac{1}{2}(g_{ka,b}+g_{kb,a}-g_{ab,k}) q^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(g_{ab,k}-g_{kb,a}+g_{ka,b}) p_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(g_{ab,k}+g_{kb,a}-g_{ka,b}) p_{2}^{2} - V_{,abk} \right].$$

$$(4.33)$$

We see that when the potential is absent in the theory, and the external momenta  $p_1, p_2$ 

are on shell  $\bar{p}_1^2 = \bar{p}_2^2 = 0$ , we indeed reproduce the field space manifold connection:

$$\int d^4 x_1 d^4 x_2 d^4 y \, e^{i\bar{p}_1 x_1 + i\bar{p}_2 x_2} e^{-iqy} \left[ G^c_{ab} \left( x_1, x_2; y \right) \Big|_{\partial_\mu \phi^a = 0} \right]$$
$$= (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (\bar{p}_1 + \bar{p}_2 - q) \, \Gamma^c_{ab} \,, \qquad (4.34)$$

or equivalently written with the external wavefunctions (Eq. (2.24)) as

$$\psi^{x_1}(\bar{p}_1)\,\psi^{x_2}(\bar{p}_2)\left[G^c_{ab}\left(x_1,x_2;y\right)\Big|_{\partial_\mu\phi^a=0}\right] = R^{1/2}_\eta\,\psi^y(\bar{p}_1+\bar{p}_2)\,\Gamma^c_{ab}\,.$$
(4.35)

When the potential is present,  $\Gamma_{ab}^c$  is reproduced from  $G_{ab}^c(x_1, x_2; y)$  in the kinematic limit of large  $q^2$ . These results demonstrate that  $G_{x_1x_2}^y$  serves as a generalization of  $\Gamma_{bc}^a$ , even though it does not have a geometric meaning on the functional manifold.

#### 4.2.4 Reproducing the Geometric Soft Theorem

A nice result obtained from the field space geometry picture is the so-called geometric soft theorem [77]. When applied to the scalar field theory in Eq. (4.15) with only the two-derivative term,<sup>6</sup> it states that in the soft kinematic limit of the (n + 1)<sup>th</sup> leg (labeled by the flavor index *b* below), the on-shell amplitudes satisfy the following recursion relation

$$\lim_{\bar{q}\to 0} \mathcal{A}_{a_1\cdots a_n b}\left(\bar{p}_1,\cdots,\bar{p}_n,\bar{q}\right) = R_{\eta}^{1/2} \nabla_b \mathcal{A}_{a_1\cdots a_n}\left(\bar{p}_1,\cdots,\bar{p}_n\right), \qquad (4.36)$$

where  $\nabla_b$  is the covariant derivative on the field space manifold; see Eq. (4.19) for explicit expression. In this subsection, we show that the tensor-like recursion relation in Eq. (4.1) serves as a generalized version of Eq. (4.36), in the sense that it reproduces Eq. (4.36) when restricted to the submanifold of constant field configurations.<sup>7</sup>

We begin with the functional derivative part of Eq. (4.1). When restricted to the submanifold of constant field configurations, and taking the  $q \rightarrow 0$  limit, we have

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \psi^{y}(q) \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^{b}(y)} \left[ \mathcal{M}_{a_{1} \cdots a_{n}}(x_{1}, \cdots, x_{n}) \Big|_{\partial_{\mu} \phi^{a} = 0} \right] = R_{\eta}^{1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^{b}} \mathcal{M}_{a_{1} \cdots a_{n}}(x_{1}, \cdots, x_{n}) .$$
(4.37)

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ We focus on the zero potential case here for simplicity of the presentation. When the potential term is turned on, the geometric soft theorem is slightly more complicated; see Eq. (17) in [77]. It can be also reproduced in a similar way.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that the residue factor  $R_{\eta}^{1/2}$  in Eq. (4.36) can be extracted from the analogous all-order expression in [77] by changing from a mass basis to a flavor basis index. We assume no mass mixing between flavor eigenstates.

Now using Eq. (2.27), we get

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \left[ (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p_1 + \dots + p_n + q) \, i \mathcal{A}_{a_1 \cdots a_n b}(p_1, \dots, p_n, q) \right] \\
= \left[ \psi^{x_1}(p_1) \cdots \psi^{x_n}(p_n) \, \psi^y(q) \right] \left[ -i \mathcal{M}_{a_1 \cdots a_n b}(x_1, \dots, x_n, y) \, \Big|_{J=0} \right] \\
\supset \left[ \psi^{x_1}(p_1) \cdots \psi^{x_n}(p_n) \, \psi^y(q) \right] \left[ -i \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi^b(y)} \, \mathcal{M}_{a_1 \cdots a_n}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \right] \Big|_{J=0} \\
= R_{\eta}^{1/2} \left[ \psi^{x_1}(p_1) \cdots \psi^{x_n}(p_n) \right] \left[ -i \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^b} \, \mathcal{M}_{a_1 \cdots a_n}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \right] \Big|_{J=0} \\
= (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p_1 + \dots + p_n) \, R_{\eta}^{1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^b} \, i \mathcal{A}_{a_1 \cdots a_n}(p_1, \dots, p_n) , \qquad (4.38)$$

or simply

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{a_1 \cdots a_n b} \left( p_1, \cdots, p_n, q \right) \supset R_{\eta}^{1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^b} \mathcal{A}_{a_1 \cdots a_n} \left( p_1, \cdots, p_n \right) \,. \tag{4.39}$$

Next let us work out the connection part of Eq. (4.1). Taking the momenta to be on-shell, *i.e.*,  $p_i = \bar{p}_i$  and  $q = \bar{q}$ , we can make use of Eq. (4.35) to get

$$(2\pi)^{4} \delta^{4}(\bar{p}_{1} + \dots + \bar{p}_{n} + \bar{q}) \, i\mathcal{A}_{a_{1}\dots a_{n}b}(\bar{p}_{1}, \dots, \bar{p}_{n}, \bar{q}) \supset \left[\psi^{x_{1}}(\bar{p}_{1}) \dots \psi^{x_{n}}(\bar{p}_{n}) \, \psi^{y}(\bar{q})\right] \times \int \mathrm{d}^{4}z \left[-G_{ba_{1}}^{c}(y, x_{1}; z) \big|_{\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}=0}\right] \left[-i\mathcal{M}_{ca_{2}\dots a_{n}}(z, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}) \big|_{J=0}\right] = R_{\eta}^{1/2} \left[\psi^{z}(\bar{p}_{1} + \bar{q}) \, \psi^{x_{2}}(\bar{p}_{2}) \dots \psi^{x_{n}}(\bar{p}_{n})\right] \Gamma_{ba_{1}}^{c} \left[i\mathcal{M}_{ca_{2}\dots a_{n}}(z, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}) \big|_{J=0}\right] = (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{4}(\bar{p}_{1} + \dots + \bar{p}_{n} + \bar{q}) \, R_{\eta}^{1/2} \left(-\Gamma_{ba_{1}}^{c}\right) i\mathcal{A}_{ca_{2}\dots a_{n}}(\bar{p}_{1} + \bar{q}, \bar{p}_{2}, \dots, \bar{p}_{n}) \,.$$
(4.40)

Taking the soft limit, this reads

$$\lim_{\bar{q}\to 0} \mathcal{A}_{a_1\cdots a_n b}\left(\bar{p}_1,\cdots,\bar{p}_n,\bar{q}\right) \supset R_{\eta}^{1/2}\left(-\Gamma_{ba_1}^c\right) \mathcal{A}_{ca_2\cdots a_n}\left(\bar{p}_1,\bar{p}_2,\cdots,\bar{p}_n\right) \,. \tag{4.41}$$

Combining Eqs. (4.39) and (4.41), we obtain Eq. (4.36).

### 4.2.5 Revisiting Vanishing Curvature for Functional Geometry

We can gain some insight into why we are finding that functional geometry has zero curvature (see Sec. 4.1.4) by comparing with the case of field space geometry. Consider

the expression in Eq. (4.23) for the four-point amplitude written using field space geometry. The amplitude is written as a sum of several terms, and each can be expressed as a geometric quantity multiplied by kinematic dependence. Under a non-derivative field redefinition, each term here is individually invariant. On the other hand, when a derivative field redefinition is carried out, each term alone will no longer have a welldefined geometric meaning. However, the total amplitude is of course still invariant. A repackaged expression of Eq. (4.23) is desired to make this invariance manifest, which would serve as a generalization of the field space geometry. This is what we hoped (and failed) to accomplish by introducing functional geometry.

Taking a closer look at the expression in Eq. (4.23), we note that it contains two types of geometric quantities: some of its terms are fully determined by the Riemann curvature tensor, which is the intrinsic geometry of the field space manifold endowed with the metric  $g_{ab}(\phi)$ , while others depend on external input functions on the manifold, such as the potential  $V(\phi)$ . From this point of view, a generalization of the field space geometry will repackage Eq. (4.23) still into these two types of geometric quantities, under the new notion of geometry. Apparently, what the functional geometry picture has done is to package everything into the second type. The intrinsic geometry is trivialized since the curvature vanishes, and the amplitude is fully determined by an external input function, namely the 1PI effective action  $\Gamma[\phi]$ .

#### 4.3 Exploring Modified Source Terms

In this section we consider if modifications of the source term that appears in the path integral can change the conclusions about the lack of curvature for functional geometry. Modifications of the source term in the partition function change the off-shell behavior of correlators but leave amplitudes invariant. This statement is a key feature of the traditional argument for field redefinition invariance of amplitudes, see *e.g.* [4] and App. A. The freedom to modify the source term has also been used by Vilkovisky [60] and DeWitt [61, 63] to define specific effective actions whose correlators transform covariantly with respect to transformations in field space; the same freedom may be useful here for removing evanescent terms in configuration space.

We define a new partition function  $\widetilde{Z}[J]$ , which differs from Eq. (2.1) by an additional source term  $\delta T[\eta, J]$ :

$$\widetilde{Z}[J] \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS + iJ_x \eta^x + i\delta T[\eta, J]} \,. \tag{4.42}$$

We assume that  $\delta T[\eta, J]$  has a smooth dependence on  $\eta$ , which admits the following

functional expansion

$$\delta T = \tilde{J}_{y_1}^{(1)} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_1} + \tilde{J}_{y_1 y_2}^{(2)} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_1} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_2} + \tilde{J}_{y_1 y_2 y_3}^{(3)} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_1} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_2} (\tilde{\phi} - \eta)^{y_3} + \dots$$
(4.43)

where the coefficients  $\tilde{J}^{(i)}$  are  $\eta$  independent, but functionals of J. Note that  $\tilde{\phi}$  here is a functional of J, which is implicitly determined through its definition

$$\tilde{\phi}^{y} \equiv \langle \eta^{y} \rangle_{\delta T,J} \equiv \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, \eta^{y} \, e^{iS + iJ_{x}\eta^{x} + i\delta T}}{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS + iJ_{x}\eta^{x} + i\delta T}} \,. \tag{4.44}$$

It is expected that the  $\tilde{J}_{y_1...y_k}^{(i)}$  are local, in that they are only supported when  $y_1 = y_2 = \dots = y_k$ , but the following analysis does not rely on this.

Therefore, Eq. (4.43) is an expansion of the  $\eta$  dependence about its quantum vev. This is done to reduce the size of the ensuing expressions, and we can make this shift without loss of generality. Eq. (4.43) could be rewritten as an expansion about  $\eta = 0$ : as  $\tilde{\phi}$  is a functional of J, the  $\tilde{\phi}$  terms can be absorbed in Eq. (4.43) through redefinitions of the  $\tilde{J}^{(i)}$ , up to an  $\eta$ -independent phase which drops out of all correlators.<sup>8</sup>

We define a set of analogous tilded quantities that are modified with respect to the quantities in previous sections due to the presence of the extra source terms:

$$\widetilde{D}^{xy} \equiv \langle \eta^x \eta^y \rangle_{\delta T, J, \text{ conn}} , \qquad (4.45a)$$

$$-i\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1\cdots x_n} \equiv \left(\prod_i \widetilde{D}_{x_i y_i}^{-1}\right) \langle \eta^{y_1} \cdots \eta^{y_n} \rangle_{\delta T, J, \operatorname{conn}} , \qquad (4.45b)$$

$$\widetilde{G}_{x_1x_2}^z \equiv i \widetilde{D}^{zy} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{yx_1x_2} \,, \tag{4.45c}$$

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{y} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{n}} \equiv \frac{\delta}{\delta \widetilde{\phi}^{y}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{1}\cdots x_{n}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \widetilde{G}_{yx_{i}}^{z} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_{1}\cdots \widehat{x}_{i} z \cdots x_{n}} \,. \tag{4.45d}$$

Working to first order in the extra source terms, any modified correlator can be ex-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note that the definition of  $\tilde{\phi}^y$ , Eq. (4.44), is self-referential, but it can be iteratively solved to an arbitrarily high power of J and  $\tilde{J}^{(i)}$ .

panded in terms of unmodified ones

$$\langle (\cdots) \rangle_{\delta T,J} \equiv \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, (\cdots) \, e^{iS+iJ_x\eta^x + i\delta T}}{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, e^{iS+iJ_x\eta^x + i\delta T}} = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, (\cdots)(1+i\delta T) \, e^{iS+iJ_x\eta^x}}{\int \mathcal{D}\eta \, (1+i\delta T) \, e^{iS+iJ_x\eta^x}} + \mathcal{O}\big(\delta T^2\big) = \langle (\cdots) \rangle_J + \langle (\cdots)i\delta T \rangle_J - \langle (\cdots) \rangle_J \, \langle i\delta T \rangle_J + \mathcal{O}\big(\delta T^2\big) \,.$$
(4.46)

By further expanding  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ ,  $\widetilde{G}$ , and  $\widetilde{\nabla}\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  (which depend on products of correlators), the linear dependence in  $\delta T$  of the quantities in Eq. (4.45) then follows. We test the resulting modifications to the recursion relation by computing the difference

$$\mathfrak{D} = -i \left( \widetilde{\nabla}_{x_4} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1 x_2 x_3} - \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4} \right) \,, \tag{4.47}$$

which is zero in the unmodified path integral. This gives

$$\mathfrak{D} = \left\{ \tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2},x_{4}}^{(2)} + 3\tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2}x_{4}}^{(3)} \right\} D^{y_{1}d_{1}} D^{y_{2}d_{2}} \left( \underline{i\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}f_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}x_{1}x_{2}x_{3}}}{- \left[ \mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}f_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}f_{3}x_{1}}D^{f_{3}f_{4}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{4}x_{2}x_{3}} - i\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}f_{1}x_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}x_{2}x_{3}} + \operatorname{cycs} \right] \right) \\ - \left\{ \tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2}y_{3},x_{4}}^{(3)} + 4\tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2}y_{3}x_{4}}^{(4)} \right\} D^{y_{1}d_{1}} D^{y_{2}d_{2}} D^{y_{3}d_{3}} \\ \times \left( \underline{i\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}d_{3}f_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}x_{1}x_{2}x_{3}}}{- \left[ \mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}d_{3}f_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}f_{3}x_{3}}D^{f_{3}f_{4}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{4}x_{1}x_{2}} - i\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}d_{3}f_{1}x_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}x_{2}x_{3}} + \operatorname{cycs} \right] \right) \\ - \left[ 3\left\{ \tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2}x_{1},x_{4}}^{(3)} + 4\tilde{J}_{y_{1}y_{2}x_{1}x_{4}}^{(4)} \right\} D^{y_{1}d_{1}} D^{y_{2}d_{2}} \\ \times \left( \underline{\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}x_{2}x_{3}}}{+ i\mathcal{M}_{d_{1}d_{2}f_{1}}D^{f_{1}f_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{f_{2}x_{2}x_{3}}} \right) + \operatorname{cycs} \right] - \underline{6}\left\{ \tilde{J}_{x_{1}x_{2}x_{3},x_{4}}^{(3)} + 4\tilde{J}_{x_{1}x_{2}x_{3}x_{4}}^{(4)} \right\} \\ + \left[ \operatorname{terms} \propto \operatorname{derivatives} \operatorname{of} \tilde{J}^{(4)} \right] + \left[ \operatorname{terms} \propto \tilde{J}^{(i)} \operatorname{for} i > 4 \right] + \mathcal{O}\left( \delta T^{2} \right),$$

$$(4.48)$$

where 'cycs' refers to the terms generated by cyclically permuting  $x_1, x_2, x_3$ , and an index after a comma denotes a functional derivative with respect to  $\tilde{\phi}$ , for example  $\tilde{J}_{y_1y_2,x_4}^{(2)} \equiv \frac{\delta}{\delta \tilde{\phi}^{x_4}} \tilde{J}_{y_1y_2}^{(2)}$ . (The underlining in this expression has no mathematical meaning and will be used simply to identify terms in the discussion below.)

We note that the non-zero right-hand side of Eq. (4.48) cannot be wholly absorbed by a redefinition of the "connection"  $\tilde{G}^z_{x_1x_2} \to \tilde{G}^z_{x_1x_2} + \delta \tilde{G}^z_{x_1x_4}$ , for some  $\delta \tilde{G}^z_{x_1x_2}$  linear in  $\delta T$ . This redefinition would exclusively generate terms of the form  $-\delta \tilde{G}_{x_1x_4}^z \mathcal{M}_{zx_2x_3} +$  cycs. However, the underlined terms in Eq. (4.48) do not contain a piece  $\mathcal{M}_{zx_2x_3}$  for some dummy index z, so they could not be set to zero by such a redefinition.

Nonetheless, the parts of  $\mathfrak{D}$  shown in Eq. (4.48) can be set to zero for  $\tilde{J}^{(i)}$  satisfying the conditions

$$\tilde{J}_{y_1y_2,y_3}^{(2)} + 3\tilde{J}_{y_1y_2y_3}^{(3)} = \mathcal{O}(\delta T^2), \qquad (4.49a)$$

$$\tilde{J}_{y_1y_2y_3,y_4}^{(3)} + 4\tilde{J}_{y_1y_2y_3y_4}^{(4)} = \mathcal{O}(\delta T^2).$$
(4.49b)

These describe some necessary conditions that additional source terms must satisfy to maintain the recursion relation between correlators. These modifications, in analog with the Vilkovisky and DeWitt effective actions, have the potential to change the transformations of correlators under field redefinitions. This leaves open the exciting possibility that a judicious choice of  $\tilde{J}^{(i)}$  can remove the evanescent terms in G and  $\mathcal{M}$ , which prevent a clear geometric interpretation of this formalism. We leave this for future work.

### 5 Conclusions and Outlook

In this paper, we provided a new perspective on the covariance properties of generalized amplitudes under field redefinitions. We proved a result that connects the transformation properties of the 1PI effective action to the transformation of the generalized amplitudes, which we called the *transformation lemma*. We then showed that this result can be applied to demonstrate the invariance of on-shell amplitudes under field redefinitions for scalar field theories up to one-loop order.

The covariance properties of these objects is highly suggestive of an underlying geometric interpretation, that we refer to as functional geometry. We explored the ways in which this functional geometry construction succeeds and where it does not. In particular, the curvature invariants (as computed by naively following the strategy for Riemannian geometry) vanish, and it is currently unclear if a modified approach (for example, adjusting the source term in the path integral) can resolve this issue. Nonetheless, we showed that the functional geometry does reduce to the field space geometry in the appropriate limits, which provides some evidence that this approach is on the right track. See also [104] for recent progress on using n-particle irreducible effective actions to study a geometric interpretation.

Generally speaking, any improved understanding of field redefinition freedom in quantum field theory improves our understanding of the physical content of its Lagrangian. It also provides insight into the intricate structure of its amplitudes, which project out these field redefinition redundancies in a non-trivial way. There are many open questions that we would like to explore in the future.

We expect that the condition on the transformation of the effective action, Eq. (3.2), should hold to all orders in perturbation theory. Since we have only shown this up to one loop, it would be very interesting to understand how this holds at two loops (and beyond), which could help lead to an all-orders result. It is possible that a looser assumption than Eq. (3.2) would still result in the transformation of the correlator given in Eq. (3.3); understanding the minimal possible conditions on the transformation of the effective action could further constrain the edge cases of the allowed space of field redefinitions. It would also be useful to extend our results explicitly to fermionic theories, as well as to understand how the gauge redundancy in gauge theories (whose behavior is in many ways similar to the field redefinition freedom in an ungauged theory) can be included in our framework.

It is worth considering the assumptions we have imposed on the possible space of field redefinitions. In principle, the transformation lemma, Eq. (3.3), holds for any invertible, infinitely differentiable (*i.e.* smooth) functional  $\phi[\tilde{\phi}]$ . However, in order for the "evanescent term" U to be projected out in the amplitude by LSZ reduction, we have assumed many properties in our treatment of the on-shell states. In particular, in Sec. 2.2, we assume properties of the pole structure of two-point correlator (whence the usual restriction that field redefinitions should be local, in order not to disturb said pole structure), as well as Poincaré invariance. This latter requirement of preserving spacetime symmetry is unnecessary, and there are many examples of non-Poincaré invariant field theories that have a well-defined *S*-matrix. It would be interesting to extend the results of this paper to such non-Poincaré invariant theories.

One interesting intermediate step would be to define the wavefunctions  $\psi$  for  $J \neq 0$ , and therefore define a *J*-dependent amplitude via the LSZ reduction formula Eq. (2.27), which would describe scattering about an arbitrary spatially-dependent background. Understanding the background dependence could be useful for investigating various IR constraints on EFTs. Knowing the *J*-dependence of the amplitude would also allow us to write a functional recursion relation for the amplitudes themselves, *i.e.*,  $\mathcal{A}$  in addition to  $\mathcal{M}$ , which could serve as a generalization of the expressions in [77] away from the soft and spatially constant background limit.

Finally, the true nature of the functional geometry remains to be discovered. Perhaps this can be accomplished by finding the appropriate source term in the path integral as explored above. Another approach would be to find a way to quotient out the evanescent terms in order to construct the functional manifold directly. It would also be fascinating to understand if there is a connection between functional geometry and recent progress understanding EFTs in terms of Lagrange space [88] and/or jet bundles [89, 90]. Clearly, we have only begun to address some of the most fundamental questions regarding the connections between EFTs and geometry.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Nathaniel Craig for collaboration during the early stages of this work. We would like to thank Andreas Helset and Aneesh Manohar for useful conversations. T. Cohen is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy under grant number DE-SC0011640. X. Lu is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy under grant number DE-SC0009919. D. Sutherland acknowledges support from the Institute for Particle Physics Phenomenology Associateship Scheme.

## Appendix

### A Amplitude Invariance From the Path Integral

In this appendix, we briefly review the argument for amplitude invariance under field redefinitions from the path integral point of view. This is largely repeating Section 6.2 in [4]. We include this appendix to make this paper self-contained.

To compute the amplitudes for a theory given by  $S[\eta]$ , one can start with the generating functional W[J] defined in Eq. (2.1):

$$e^{iW[J]} \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\eta \, \exp\left\{iS[\eta] + i \int \mathrm{d}^4x \, J(x)\eta(x)\right\}\,,\tag{A.1}$$

which generates the connected correlation functions. Making an integration variable change

$$\eta = f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right],\tag{A.2}$$

we get the same quantity rewritten as

$$e^{iW[J]} = \int \det\left(\frac{\delta\eta}{\delta\tilde{\eta}}\right) \mathcal{D}\tilde{\eta} \exp\left\{iS\left[f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right]\right] + i\int d^4x J(x)f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right](x)\right\}$$
$$= \int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\eta} \exp\left\{i\left(S\left[f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right]\right] - i\log\det\left(\frac{\delta\eta}{\delta\tilde{\eta}}\right)\right) + i\int d^4x J(x)f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right](x)\right\}.$$
 (A.3)

Now, consider a slightly different generating functional  $W_1[J]$ :

$$e^{iW_1[J]} = \int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\eta} \exp\left\{i\left(S\left[f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right]\right] - i\log\det\left(\frac{\delta\eta}{\delta\tilde{\eta}}\right)\right) + i\int d^4x \,J(x)\tilde{\eta}(x)\right\},\quad(A.4)$$

where the difference is due to the last term in the exponent. As  $W_1[J] \neq W[J]$ , it generates a set of connected correlation functions that are different from the original theory  $S[\eta]$ . However, the only difference between  $W_1[J]$  and W[J] is how the source field J(x) is coupled to the theory:

$$\int d^4x \, J(x) \, f\big[\tilde{\eta}\big](x) \qquad \text{versus} \qquad \int d^4x \, J(x) \, \tilde{\eta}(x) \,. \tag{A.5}$$

In such cases, for legitimate field redefinitions  $f[\tilde{\eta}]$ , it is understood [3, 4] that upon the LSZ reduction procedure, they yield the same on-shell amplitudes. Therefore, we see from Eq. (A.4) that for the purposes of computing the on-shell amplitudes for the theory  $S[\eta]$ , one can alternatively work with a new theory given by the action  $\tilde{S}[\tilde{\eta}]$ :

$$\tilde{S}[\tilde{\eta}] = S\left[f\left[\tilde{\eta}\right]\right] - i\log\det\left(\frac{\delta\eta}{\delta\tilde{\eta}}\right) \,. \tag{A.6}$$

Note that the second piece from the Jacobian is one-loop sized. For tree-level calculations, one can ignore it and simply use the first term above as the new theory. For loop-level calculations, if one works with dimensional regularization, the second piece above also vanishes due to it being a scaleless integral (except for anomalous fermion chiral transformations); see *e.g.* Ref. [3] for more detailed discussions. In this paper, to make our statement independent of the choice of regularization scheme, we keep the second piece above for the loop-level discussions.

### References

- J.S.R. Chisholm, Change of variables in quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. 26 (1961) 469.
- [2] S. Kamefuchi, L. O'Raifeartaigh and A. Salam, Change of variables and equivalence theorems in quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. 28 (1961) 529.
- [3] C. Arzt, Reduced effective Lagrangians, Phys. Lett. B 342 (1995) 189 [hep-ph/9304230].
- [4] A.V. Manohar, Introduction to Effective Field Theories, 1804.05863.
- [5] T. Cohen, N. Craig, X. Lu and D. Sutherland, On-Shell Covariance of Quantum Field Theory Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 041603 [2202.06965].
- [6] L. Lehman and A. Martin, Hilbert Series for Constructing Lagrangians: expanding the phenomenologist's toolbox, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 105014 [1503.07537].

- B. Henning, X. Lu, T. Melia and H. Murayama, *Hilbert series and operator bases with derivatives in effective field theories*, Commun. Math. Phys. 347 (2016) 363
   [1507.07240].
- [8] L. Lehman and A. Martin, Low-derivative operators of the Standard Model effective field theory via Hilbert series methods, JHEP 02 (2016) 081 [1510.00372].
- [9] B. Henning, X. Lu, T. Melia and H. Murayama, 2, 84, 30, 993, 560, 15456, 11962, 261485, ...: Higher dimension operators in the SM EFT, JHEP 08 (2017) 016
   [1512.03433].
- [10] A. Kobach and S. Pal, Hilbert Series and Operator Basis for NRQED and NRQCD/HQET, Phys. Lett. B 772 (2017) 225 [1704.00008].
- [11] B. Henning, X. Lu, T. Melia and H. Murayama, Operator bases, S-matrices, and their partition functions, JHEP 10 (2017) 199 [1706.08520].
- [12] A. Kobach and S. Pal, Reparameterization Invariant Operator Basis for NRQED and HQET, JHEP 11 (2019) 012 [1810.02356].
- [13] M. Ruhdorfer, J. Serra and A. Weiler, Effective Field Theory of Gravity to All Orders, JHEP 05 (2020) 083 [1908.08050].
- [14] C.B. Marinissen, R. Rahn and W.J. Waalewijn, ..., 83106786, 114382724, 1509048322, 2343463290, 27410087742, ... efficient Hilbert series for effective theories, Phys. Lett. B 808 (2020) 135632 [2004.09521].
- [15] L. Graf, B. Henning, X. Lu, T. Melia and H. Murayama, 2, 12, 117, 1959, 45171, 1170086, ...: a Hilbert series for the QCD chiral Lagrangian, JHEP 01 (2021) 142
   [2009.01239].
- [16] L. Gráf, B. Henning, X. Lu, T. Melia and H. Murayama, *Hilbert series, the Higgs mechanism, and HEFT, JHEP* 02 (2023) 064 [2211.06275].
- [17] H. Sun, Y.-N. Wang and J.-H. Yu, Hilbert Series and Operator Counting on the Higgs Effective Field Theory, 2211.11598.
- [18] D. Kondo, H. Murayama and R. Okabe, 23, 381, 6242, 103268, 1743183, ... : Hilbert series for CP-violating operators in SMEFT, JHEP 03 (2023) 107 [2212.02413].
- [19] A. Delgado, A. Martin and R. Wang, Constructing operator basis in supersymmetry: a Hilbert series approach, JHEP 04 (2023) 097 [2212.02551].
- [20] H. Sun, M.-L. Xiao and J.-H. Yu, Complete NNLO operator bases in Higgs effective field theory, JHEP 04 (2023) 086 [2210.14939].
- [21] J. Bijnens, S.B. Gudnason, J. Yu and T. Zhang, Hilbert series and higher-order Lagrangians for the O(N) model, JHEP 05 (2023) 061 [2212.07901].

- [22] A. Delgado, A. Martin and R. Wang, Counting operators in N = 1 supersymmetric gauge theories, JHEP 07 (2023) 081 [2305.01736].
- [23] C. Grojean, J. Kley and C.-Y. Yao, Hilbert series for ALP EFTs, 2307.08563.
- [24] T. Cohen, H. Elvang and M. Kiermaier, On-shell constructibility of tree amplitudes in general field theories, JHEP 04 (2011) 053 [1010.0257].
- [25] C. Cheung and C.-H. Shen, Nonrenormalization Theorems without Supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 071601 [1505.01844].
- [26] A. Azatov, R. Contino, C.S. Machado and F. Riva, *Helicity selection rules and noninterference for BSM amplitudes*, *Phys. Rev. D* **95** (2017) 065014 [1607.05236].
- [27] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering amplitudes for all masses and spins, JHEP 11 (2021) 070 [1709.04891].
- [28] Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, Effective Field Theory Amplitudes the On-Shell Way: Scalar and Vector Couplings to Gluons, JHEP 02 (2019) 165 [1809.09644].
- [29] N. Christensen and B. Field, Constructive standard model, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 016014 [1802.00448].
- [30] G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, The electroweak effective field theory from on-shell amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2020) 119 [1909.10551].
- [31] G. Durieux and C.S. Machado, Enumerating higher-dimensional operators with on-shell amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095021 [1912.08827].
- [32] Z. Bern, J. Parra-Martinez and E. Sawyer, Nonrenormalization and Operator Mixing via On-Shell Methods, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 051601 [1910.05831].
- [33] N. Christensen, B. Field, A. Moore and S. Pinto, Two-, three-, and four-body decays in the constructive standard model, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 065019 [1909.09164].
- [34] T. Ma, J. Shu and M.-L. Xiao, Standard model effective field theory from on-shell amplitudes\*, Chin. Phys. C 47 (2023) 023105 [1902.06752].
- [35] R. Aoude and C.S. Machado, The Rise of SMEFT On-shell Amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2019) 058 [1905.11433].
- [36] B. Bachu and A. Yelleshpur, On-Shell Electroweak Sector and the Higgs Mechanism, JHEP 08 (2020) 039 [1912.04334].
- [37] B. Henning and T. Melia, Constructing effective field theories via their harmonics, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 016015 [1902.06754].
- [38] Z. Bern, J. Parra-Martinez and E. Sawyer, Structure of two-loop SMEFT anomalous dimensions via on-shell methods, JHEP 10 (2020) 211 [2005.12917].
- [39] G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, C.S. Machado, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, Constructing massive on-shell contact terms, JHEP 12 (2020) 175 [2008.09652].

- [40] J. Elias Miró, J. Ingoldby and M. Riembau, EFT anomalous dimensions from the S-matrix, JHEP 09 (2020) 163 [2005.06983].
- [41] P. Baratella, C. Fernandez and A. Pomarol, Renormalization of Higher-Dimensional Operators from On-shell Amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 959 (2020) 115155 [2005.07129].
- [42] A. Falkowski, G. Isabella and C.S. Machado, On-shell effective theory for higher-spin dark matter, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 101 [2011.05339].
- [43] M. Jiang, T. Ma and J. Shu, Renormalization Group Evolution from On-shell SMEFT, JHEP 01 (2021) 101 [2005.10261].
- [44] Q. Jin, K. Ren and G. Yang, Two-Loop anomalous dimensions of QCD operators up to dimension-sixteen and Higgs EFT amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2021) 180 [2011.02494].
- [45] R. Nagai, M. Tanabashi, K. Tsumura and Y. Uchida, Scalar and fermion on-shell amplitudes in generalized Higgs effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 015001 [2102.08519].
- [46] Z.-Y. Dong, T. Ma and J. Shu, Constructing on-shell operator basis for all masses and spins, 2103.15837.
- [47] M. Accettulli Huber and S. De Angelis, Standard Model EFTs via on-shell methods, JHEP 11 (2021) 221 [2108.03669].
- [48] S. De Angelis, Amplitude bases in generic EFTs, JHEP 08 (2022) 299 [2202.02681].
- [49] S. Chang, M. Chen, D. Liu and M.A. Luty, Primary observables for indirect searches at colliders, JHEP 07 (2023) 030 [2212.06215].
- [50] Z.-Y. Dong, T. Ma, J. Shu and Y.-H. Zheng, Constructing generic effective field theory for all masses and spins, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 116010 [2202.08350].
- [51] R. Balkin, G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, On-shell Higgsing for EFTs, JHEP 03 (2022) 129 [2112.09688].
- [52] I. Low, J. Shu, M.-L. Xiao and Y.-H. Zheng, Amplitude/operator basis in chiral perturbation theory, JHEP 01 (2023) 031 [2209.00198].
- [53] H. Liu, T. Ma, Y. Shadmi and M. Waterbury, An EFT hunter's guide to two-to-two scattering: HEFT and SMEFT on-shell amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2023) 241
   [2301.11349].
- [54] L. Bradshaw and S. Chang, Primary observables for top quark collider signals, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 015019 [2304.06063].
- [55] C. Arzate, S. Chang and G. Jacobo, Primary Observables for Electroweak Gauge Boson Collider Signals, 2312.03821.
- [56] J. Honerkamp, Chiral multiloops, Nucl. Phys. B 36 (1972) 130.

- [57] L. Tataru, One Loop Divergences of the Nonlinear Chiral Theory, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 3351.
- [58] L. Alvarez-Gaume, D.Z. Freedman and S. Mukhi, The Background Field Method and the Ultraviolet Structure of the Supersymmetric Nonlinear Sigma Model, Annals Phys. 134 (1981) 85.
- [59] L. Alvarez-Gaume and D.Z. Freedman, Geometrical Structure and Ultraviolet Finiteness in the Supersymmetric Sigma Model, Commun. Math. Phys. 80 (1981) 443.
- [60] G.A. Vilkovisky, The Unique Effective Action in Quantum Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 234 (1984) 125.
- [61] B.S. DeWitt, The spacetime approach to quantum field theory, in Les Houches Summer School on Theoretical Physics: Relativity, Groups and Topology, pp. 381–738, 1984.
- [62] M.K. Gaillard, The Effective One Loop Lagrangian With Derivative Couplings, Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986) 669.
- [63] B.S. DeWitt, The Effective Action, in Les Houches School of Theoretical Physics: Architecture of Fundamental Interactions at Short Distances, pp. 1023–1058, 1987.
- [64] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, A Geometric Formulation of Higgs Effective Field Theory: Measuring the Curvature of Scalar Field Space, Phys. Lett. B 754 (2016) 335 [1511.00724].
- [65] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Sigma Models with Negative Curvature, Phys. Lett. B 756 (2016) 358 [1602.00706].
- [66] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Geometry of the Scalar Sector, JHEP 08 (2016) 101 [1605.03602].
- [67] R. Nagai, M. Tanabashi, K. Tsumura and Y. Uchida, Symmetry and geometry in a generalized Higgs effective field theory: Finiteness of oblique corrections versus perturbative unitarity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 075020 [1904.07618].
- [68] A. Helset, A. Martin and M. Trott, The Geometric Standard Model Effective Field Theory, JHEP 03 (2020) 163 [2001.01453].
- [69] T. Cohen, N. Craig, X. Lu and D. Sutherland, Is SMEFT Enough?, JHEP 03 (2021) 237 [2008.08597].
- [70] T. Cohen, N. Craig, X. Lu and D. Sutherland, Unitarity violation and the geometry of Higgs EFTs, JHEP 12 (2021) 003 [2108.03240].
- [71] R. Alonso and M. West, Roads to the Standard Model, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 096028 [2109.13290].
- [72] I. Banta, T. Cohen, N. Craig, X. Lu and D. Sutherland, Non-decoupling new particles, JHEP 02 (2022) 029 [2110.02967].

- [73] J. Talbert, The geometric  $\nu$ SMEFT: operators and connections, JHEP **01** (2023) 069 [2208.11139].
- [74] R. Alonso, J.C. Criado, R. Houtz and M. West, Walls, bubbles and doom the cosmology of HEFT, 2312.00881.
- [75] K. Finn, S. Karamitsos and A. Pilaftsis, Frame Covariance in Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 045014 [1910.06661].
- [76] K. Finn, S. Karamitsos and A. Pilaftsis, Frame covariant formalism for fermionic theories, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 572 [2006.05831].
- [77] C. Cheung, A. Helset and J. Parra-Martinez, Geometric soft theorems, JHEP 04 (2022) 011 [2111.03045].
- [78] R. Alonso and M. West, On the effective action for scalars in a general manifold to any loop order, Phys. Lett. B 841 (2023) 137937 [2207.02050].
- [79] A. Helset, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, *Geometry in scattering amplitudes*, *Phys. Rev. D* **106** (2022) 116018 [2210.08000].
- [80] A. Helset, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Renormalization of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory from geometry, JHEP 02 (2023) 063 [2212.03253].
- [81] A. Pilaftsis, K. Finn, V. Gattus and S. Karamitsos, Geometrising the Micro-Cosmos on a Supermanifold, PoS CORFU2021 (2022) 080 [2204.00123].
- [82] B. Assi, A. Helset, A.V. Manohar, J. Pagès and C.-H. Shen, Fermion Geometry and the Renormalization of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, 2307.03187.
- [83] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar, L. Naterop and J. Pagès, An Algebraic Formula for Two Loop Renormalization of Scalar Quantum Field Theory, 2308.06315.
- [84] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar, L. Naterop and J. Pagès, Two Loop Renormalization of Scalar Theories using a Geometric Approach, 2310.19883.
- [85] V. Gattus and A. Pilaftsis, Minimal supergeometric quantum field theories, Phys. Lett. B 846 (2023) 138234 [2307.01126].
- [86] R. Alonso, A primer on Higgs Effective Field Theory with Geometry, 2307.14301.
- [87] C. Cheung, A. Helset and J. Parra-Martinez, Geometry-kinematics duality, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 045016 [2202.06972].
- [88] N. Craig, Y.-T. Lee, X. Lu and D. Sutherland, Effective Field Theories as Lagrange Spaces, 2305.09722.
- [89] N. Craig and Y.-T. Lee, Effective Field Theories on the Jet Bundle, 2307.15742.
- [90] M. Alminawi, I. Brivio and J. Davighi, Jet Bundle Geometry of Scalar Field Theories, 2308.00017.

- [91] H. Neufeld, J. Gasser and G. Ecker, The one loop functional as a Berezinian, Phys. Lett. B 438 (1998) 106 [hep-ph/9806436].
- [92] S. Weinberg, The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications, Cambridge University Press (8, 2013), 10.1017/CBO9781139644174.
- [93] M.D. Schwartz, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model, Cambridge University Press (3, 2014).
- [94] A.V. Manohar and E. Nardoni, Renormalization Group Improvement of the Effective Potential: an EFT Approach, JHEP 04 (2021) 093 [2010.15806].
- [95] H. Lehmann, K. Symanzik and W. Zimmermann, On the formulation of quantized field theories, Nuovo Cim. 1 (1955) 205.
- [96] H. Lehmann, K. Symanzik and W. Zimmermann, On the formulation of quantized field theories. II, Nuovo Cim. 6 (1957) 319.
- [97] F.A. Berends and W.T. Giele, Recursive Calculations for Processes with n Gluons, Nucl. Phys. B 306 (1988) 759.
- [98] L.S. Brown, Summing tree graphs at threshold, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) R4125 [hep-ph/9209203].
- [99] R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, The Kinematic Algebra From the Self-Dual Sector, JHEP 07 (2011) 007 [1105.2565].
- [100] T. Cohen, X. Lu and Z. Zhang, Functional Prescription for EFT Matching, JHEP 02 (2021) 228 [2011.02484].
- [101] T. Cohen, X. Lu and Z. Zhang, Snowmass White Paper: Effective Field Theory Matching and Applications, in Snowmass 2021, 3, 2022 [2203.07336].
- [102] B.S. DeWitt, The global approach to quantum field theory. Vol. 1, 2, vol. 114, Int.Ser.Monogr.Phys. (2003).
- [103] B.S. DeWitt and G. Esposito, An Introduction to quantum gravity, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 5 (2008) 101 [0711.2445].
- [104] Y. Kluth, P. Millington and P. Saffin, Renormalization group flows from the Hessian geometry of quantum effective actions, 2311.17199.